
STRATEGIC NUCLEAR AND ENERGY BOARD
AGENDA

Venue: Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, Catherine Street, 
Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ 

Date: Wednesday, 6th February, 2019
Time: 2.00 pm
Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby         Tel: 01946 598328

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 

3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 18 December 2018 1 - 6

4. Radioactive Waste Management GDF Site Evaluation Process 7 - 22

5. Consultation Response on the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority's Draft 
Business Plan for 2019 to 2022 

23 - 32

6. The Case for Accelerated Decommissioning of Calder Hall 33 - 38

7. BEIS Advanced Modular Reactor Competition 39 - 56

8. The Impact of the United Kingdom's Withdrawal from the European 
Union on the Nuclear Sector 

57 - 62

9. Projects Update - Verbal 

10. Planning Update 

11. Date and Time of Next Meeting 

The next meeting of the Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board will be held on 
Tuesday 2 April 2019 at 2:00pm, in the Bainbridge Room, The Copeland 
Centre, Whitehaven.

Membership: Councillors Raymond Gill (Chair), Yvonne Clarkson, Peter Connolly, 
Gwynneth Everett, Linda Jones-Bulman, David Moore and Felicity Wilson.

Contacts: Direct Dial: 01946 598328
E-mail: clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk
Website: www.copeland.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



STRATEGIC NUCLEAR AND ENERGY BOARD

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON TUESDAY, 18 DECEMBER 2018

Present: Councillors Raymond Gill, in the Chair; Yvonne Clarkson, Gwynneth Everett, 
Linda Jones-Bulman, David Moore and Felicity Wilson.

Officers: Pat Graham (Chief Executive), Steve Smith (Interim Nuclear Projects Manager), 
Robert Ward (Nuclear Sector Development Manager), Mitchell McCombe (Nuclear Sector 
Development Officer), Heather Morrison (Senior Planning Officer) and Clive Willoughby 
(Democratic Services Officer).

SN 18/21 Apologies for Absence 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Peter Connolly.

SN 18/22 Declarations of Interest 

There were no Declarations of Interests made at this meeting.

SN 18/23 Minutes of the Meeting held on 2 October 2018 

RESOLVED - That the minutes of the meeting held on 2 October 2018 be signed by the Chair 
as a correct record.

SN 18/24 Projects Update 

The Interim Nuclear Project Manager provided the Board with an update on nuclear projects, 
specifically the Moorside Project, the North West Coast Connections Project and the 
Government’s intentions to provide a Geological Disposal Facility (GDF) for higher activity 
radioactive waste.

With regards Moorside, members were advised that following Toshiba’s decision to cease any 
further development of their involvement in the Moorside site, the NuGen operation would 
be closing down on 31 March 2019.

Following Toshiba’s decision, there was nothing further to report regarding the North West 
Coast Connections Project. 

It was noted that the Mayor had already written to Government to press for nuclear 
development in Copeland.

In respect of a Geological Disposal Facility (GDF), members were reminded that in April 2018, 
Council submitted a consultation response to two Government consultations under the white 
paper ‘Implementing Geological Disposal: A Framework for the long term management of 
higher activity radioactive waste’, one on ‘Working with Communities’ and the other on the 
National Policy Statement for GDF Infrastructure.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Members were advised that Government is understood to have reviewed the consultation 
responses and a decision to launch the process and the search for a volunteer host 
community was expected to start soon.
Once a launch date was known a programme of Member workshops would be planned with a 
view to developing a Council position on the siting process.

The Chief Executive stated that Copeland was involved in the process whether or not we were 
host as the waste was already here. It was also stated that the current position of Council 
would be circulated to all Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board members.

RESOLVED:- that the updates be noted. 

SN 18/25 Sellafield Major Environmental Permit Review Consultation 

The Nuclear Sector Development Manager introduced the Sellafield Ltd Environmental 
Permits Review report to the Board.

Members were advised that the Environment Agency are the regulatory authority for the 
Radioactive Substances Activities Permit, which allows Sellafield to operate facilities which 
result in radioactive aqueous and gaseous discharges to the environment and solid waste 
disposals. The Permit was subject to annual review and frequent variation.

In October 2018 the Environment Agency launched a consultation process for adjusting the 
Radioactive Substances Activities Permit for the Sellafield site.

The proposed changes include:
 Removal of specified Site Limits
 Reduction in headroom of Site Limits
 Replacement of Plant Limits with Notification Levels
 Introduction of a tiered approach to Site Limits

During the discussion that followed, members were keen to ensure that the monitoring of 
discharges was maintained at a high level and that the Environment Agency kept a close eye 
on decommissioning.

RESOLVED:- that the Board delegate authority to the Chief Executive in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Nuclear and Corporate Services to form a response to the Environment 
Agency’s consultation on Sellafield Ltd Environmental Permits Review.

SN 18/26 Changes to Sellafield Detailed Emergency Planning Zone 

The Nuclear Sector Development Manager introduced a report updating Members on 
changes to the UK Radiation (Emergency Preparedness and Public Information) Regulations.

The Board were advised that under these regulations certain obligations were placed on 
nuclear site licence holders and local authorities in respect of emergency preparedness and 
response.
The Euratom (European Union) Basic Safety Standards Directive 2013 set out updated safety 
requirements for the nuclear sector. It mandated that the UK must transpose this EU directive 
into UK law by 6 February 2019.

Page 2



The transposition of the EU directive into UK legislation has been a 5 year process. The 
Government consultation on the changes started in August 2017, to which Copeland Borough 
Council provided a response.

The changes were expected to be implemented in early 2019, after which there would be a 
one year transition period, with an Approved Code of Practice published later. Consultation 
had not yet begun on the Approved Code of Practice, this wasd expected in mid to late 2019.

The Government’s consultation response covered:
 Radiation emergency
 Risk assessment and evaluation
 Detailed Emergency Planning Zone (DEPZ)
 Outline Planning Zones
 Emergency workers

During the discussion that followed, members welcomed the report and found it re-assuring. 
It was suggested that members of this Board be invited to future Off-Site Co-ordination and 
Response (OSCAR) exercises, that the Community Safety Manager be invited to a future 
meeting of the Board and that Board members be given access to Resilience.

RESOLVED:- that
a) The report be noted,
b) Consideration be given to inviting Board members to future Off-Site Co-ordination and 

Response (OSCAR) exercises,
c) the Community Safety Manager be invited to a future meeting of the Board, and
d) that Board members be given access to Resilience.

SN 18/27 Public Accounts Committee Report on NDA Risk Reduction at Sellafield 

A paper introducing the House of Commons’ Public Accounts Committee’s report on Nuclear 
Decommissioning Authority: Risk Reduction at Sellafield was presented by the Nuclear Sector 
Development Manager.

During the discussion that followed, members expressed their concern at the Public Accounts 
Committee’s findings and suggested a further meeting to discuss would be welcomed.

It was also suggested that the Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board members would like to see 
the draft response before it is referred to the Executive.

RESOLVED:- that
a) The information contained in the Public Accounts Committee’s report be noted,
b) It be delegated to the Chief Executive and Portfolio Holder for Nuclear and Corporate 

Services to develop a response to the Public Accounts Committee, Nuclear 
Decommissioning Authority and Sellafield Ltd which is to be circulated to Board 
members for comment prior to submission.

Page 3



SN 18/28 Accelerated Magnox Reactor Decommissioning 

Members were updated on work being undertaken by the Nuclear Decommissioning 
Authority to review the strategy of decommissioning of the UK’s Magnox Reactor Fleet, 
including Calder Hall on the Sellafield site.

During the discussion that followed, members expressed a view that Copeland would benefit 
from an early clean-up of Calder Hall.
It was also stated that the factors listed in section 5.3 of the report, being

1. Risk to workers and the public
2. Minimising impact to the environment
3. Socio-economics and supply chain
4. Enabling the NDA mission
5. Resources and skills
6. Logistics, transport and infrastructure
7. Lifetime cost

Would help bring forward Calder Hall.

RESOLVED:- that 
a) the position regarding the review of the Strategy for Decommissioning Magnox 

Reactors be noted.
b) Feedback on the summary workshop report be looked at by the Chair of Strategic 

Nuclear and Energy Board and the Portfolio Holder before being signed off.

SN 18/29 The Relevance of the Nuclear Sector Deal to Copeland 

The Board considered a report on the Relevance of the Nuclear Sector Deal to Copeland.

Members stated that there was a lot of relevance in the report.

In particular it was highlighted that Copeland’s priorities in relation to people and skills should 
be:

 To retain and develop the highly skilled and experienced nuclear workforce in 
Copeland

 To work with our large employers and growing supply chains in pushing for 
advancement of apprenticeship and graduate programmes that give people the right 
skills in the right place

 To match the skills pipeline to the current and future skills demand of the economy, 
including but not limited to the needs of Sellafield and the potential skills requirement 
to support nuclear new build

 To develop people to adapt to the rapidly changing nature of employment practices 
and the future of work, and to develop adaptable and transferable skills that can be 
utilised from sector to sector.

RESOLVED:- that the messages relating to the Nuclear Deal that were included in the 
response to the consultation on the Cumbria LEP’s draft Local Industrial Strategy be noted.

Page 4



SN 18/30 Planning Update 

The Senior Planning Officer provided the Board with an update of developments at Sellafield 
Limited.

RESOLVED:- That the Update be noted.

SN 18/31 Date and Time of Next Meeting 

The next meeting of the Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board will be held on Wednesday 6 
February 2019 at 2:00pm, in the Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, Whitehaven.

The Meeting closed at 3.30 pm 

Chair

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



STRATEGIC NUCLEAR AND ENERGY BOARD 06.02.19

Geological Disposal Facility Project Update 

LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham
REPORT AUTHOR: Steve Smith

Summary and Recommendation:

This paper provides an update on the Governments intentions for the provision of a 
Geological Disposal Facility (GDF) for higher activity radioactive waste.

Members are asked to;
1. note the current position with the regards the launch of the Government process and 

the contents of the revised ‘Working with Communities’ policy paper,
2. agree to the suggested programme of Member briefing sessions with a view to 

determining a Council position on the Governments process, 
3. provide any comments relating to RWM’s proposed ‘Site Evaluation’ public consultation 

and agree to delegate the response to the consultation to the Chief Executive in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Nuclear and Commercial Services and the 
Chair of SNEB. 

4. Note the publication of a range of related technical position papers published by the 
Committee on Radioactive Waste Management (CoRWM). 

1. Geological Disposal Infrastructure Siting Process

Members will be aware from media coverage and previous Member bulletins that just prior to 
Christmas on 19th December the Government launched the policy document ‘Implementing Geological 
Disposal: Working with Communities: An updated framework for the long-term management of higher 
activity radioactive waste’. The document was launched by a Ministerial Statement, a copy of which 
is attached as Appendix A for Members information. Following the statement by Richard Harrington 
(Parliamentary Under Secretary of State, Minister for Business and Industry) and the publication of 
‘Implementing Geological Disposal - Working with Communities’ by the Department for Business, 
Energy and Industrial Strategy, Radioactive Waste Management (RWM), a subsidiary of the Nuclear 
Decommissioning Authority, will now begin the search for a willing host community and a suitable site 
to construct a Geological Disposal Facility (GDF). A copy of the ‘Working with Communities’ document 
can be accessed via the following link; 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file
/766643/Implementing_Geological_Disposal_-_Working_with_Communities.pdf. 

This document replaces the 2014 White Paper and is produced following extensive consultation in 
2018 which included responses from this Council. Also published at this time were a suite of 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/766643/Implementing_Geological_Disposal_-_Working_with_Communities.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/766643/Implementing_Geological_Disposal_-_Working_with_Communities.pdf


documents including regional reports from the Government’s national geological screening exercise. 
A copy of the regional report covering northern England is accessible via the following link;

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-geological-screening-for-a-gdf-northern-england.

RWM also published a draft site evaluation document for consultation, which describes the factors 
that it will take into account in evaluating prospective sites for a GDF as the process moves forward 
and which is referred later in this report.

Hard copies of the documents referred to can be made available to Members prior to or at the 
meeting.

1.1 ‘Working with Communities’ policy document

The final published version follows the format and structure of the consultation draft. In summary the 
document covers;

 The purpose and status of the document

 The contextual information for the document including background to the policy of geological 
disposal, the inventory for disposal and how it is currently managed and information on the 
technical perspectives of geological disposal

 The process of geological disposal and how it will be regulated

 The Working with Communities Policy and how RWM will work in partnership with 
communities to identify a suitable site for a GDF

1.2 The Siting Process 

Chapter 6 of the Working with Communities policy document describes the process of engaging with 
communities. The following diagram illustrates the stages within the process and the projected 
timescales. 

Page 8

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-geological-screening-for-a-gdf-northern-england


Initial discussions – this is the start of the process when ‘anyone with a proposal for an area to be 
considered for a GDF’ can initiate discussions with RWM, to explore and obtain more information. At 
the end of this initial work RWM may decide that there is little or no potential to host a GDF in this 
area and will cease the process. If, however both parties wish to proceed they must inform all relevant 
local authorities before going public with the proposals and starting a dialogue with people in the local 
area. 

1.3 Forming a Working Group and identifying a Search Area

To commence a process of engaging with the community the interested party, RWM, an independent 
chair and an independent facilitator will form a Working Group. All relevant principal local authorities 
must be invited to join the Working Group. Although local authority membership is not a requirement 
it would be preferable. The costs of local authority engagement will be reimbursed by Government 
and the activities of the Working Group generally will be funded by Government, subject to further 
advice and guidance being provided by RWM. Parish Councils could also be invited to be involved at 
this stage. An early task of the Group will be to define a Search Area, which is the geographical area 
within which RWM will seek to identify potentially suitable sites to host a GDF and will be based on 
electoral ward boundaries. Defining the boundaries of the Search Area is important in order to identify 
appropriate membership for the Community Partnership, including relevant principal local authorities, 
and to determine eligibility for Community Investment Funding. Projects, schemes and initiatives 
within the Search Area may be eligible for this funding.

1.4 Role of the Working Group

The Working Group will work to identify members of the community who may be interested in joining 
a Community Partnership. This work will include:

 gathering information about the different people and organisations in the area who will have 
an interest or who are likely to be affected;

 gathering information to understand the existing geographic, social, economic, 
environmental, cultural and administrative structures of the Search Area;

 understanding the community’s issues, concerns and questions about geological disposal and 
the process for identifying potential locations for a GDF;

 engaging with relevant principal local authorities within the Search Area (if they have not 
joined the Working Group).

1.5 The Community Partnership

The Policy document describes the setting up of a Community Partnership as follows;

‘A Community Partnership can only be formed and continue to operate if one or more relevant principal 
local authorities in the Search Area agree to participate. There must be at least one relevant principal 
local authority representing each district or unitary authority electoral ward in the Search Area. In an 
area with two tiers of local government (i.e. district and county) in order to maintain flexibility, it is not 
a requirement that both join. It may be, where two tiers of local government exist, that one of the 
relevant principal local authorities is content for a Community Partnership to continue its work without 

Page 9



it being a member. Where a relevant principal local authority decides not to be a member, the 
Community Partnership would need to keep it informed of its work. Any relevant principal local 
authority that does not initially join the Community Partnership may decide to join at any point in the 
future.

All of the Search Area must be represented by a relevant principal local authority on the Community 
Partnership. If a relevant principal local authority decides to leave the Community Partnership with the 
result that part of the Search Area (or, once identified, the Potential Host Community) is no longer 
represented by any of the relevant principal local authorities on the Community Partnership, then it 
will no longer form part of the Search Area (or Potential Host Community). The figure below 
summarises the role of relevant principal local authorities in the process.’

The role of the Community Partnership is to:

 facilitate discussion with the community;

 identify relevant information that people in the Search Area and Potential Host Community 
want or need about the siting process;

 be the key vehicle for community dialogue with RWM;

 review and refine the boundaries of the Search Area as RWM’s investigations progress;

 identify priorities for Community Investment Funding;

 make recommendations to the relevant principal local authorities on the Community 
Partnership on whether to invoke the Right of Withdrawal and if and when to launch a Test of 
Public Support;

 agree a programme of activities to develop the community’s understanding of the siting 
process and the potential implications of hosting a GDF;

Page 10



 develop a community vision and consider the part a GDF may play in that vision;

 monitor public opinion in relation to siting a GDF within the Search Area and the Potential 
Host Community.

The Community Partnership could include representation from parish and town councils and other 
organisations such as the National Park, Local Enterprise Partnership. The proposal is that RWM are 
members of the Community Partnership. 

1.6 Decision making within the Community Partnership. 

The document notes that principal local authorities play a crucial role in respect of planning, 
infrastructure development and service provision in a local area. As such and to ensure democratic 
accountability the Government has decided that the relevant principal local authorities on the 
Community Partnership will take two key types of decisions;

 whether to seek to withdraw the community from the process through invoking the Right of 
Withdrawal (RoW) 

 if or when it wishes to seek the community’s views on whether it wishes to host a GDF through 
the use of a Test of Public Support (ToPS) 

All relevant local authorities must agree before any of the above can be invoked and they must be 
members of the Community Partnership to have a say. Where relevant local authorities do not agree 
on the way forward in relation to RoW and ToPS then RWM could fund mediation to ensure concerns 
are heard, understood and attempts are made to address them. 

1.7 Community Partnership Agreement

A Community Partnership Agreement will set out how the Community Partnership operates and how 
it will take decisions. Once signed Community Investment Funding will be made available.

1.8 Community engagement activities

A key activity that the Community Partnership is expected to direct is engagement with the community 
through for example stakeholder forums, exiting networks and social media.

1.9 Communicating the inventory for disposal

This will be an important issue to communicate to the community. A process of agreeing any future 
material changes to the inventory would need to be agreed before a Test of Public Support. 

1.10 Funding to support the activities of the Community Partnership

Engagement Funding is intended to cover the costs of the Community Partnership’s activities. The 
scope could include;

 activities through which communities learn about geological disposal;

 commissioning of reports on specific issues;

Page 11



 accessing independent scientific and technical advice;

 communications activity, such as a stakeholder forum, websites, information leaflets, social 
media and outreach and information events.

1.11 Access to scientific and technical information

RWM will be the first port of call for technical information on geological disposal and the Community 
Partnership will be able to call on the Government’s independent advisory body CoRWM and 
regulators. The Community Partnership may also wish to commission reports and research on specific 
topics from independent experts.

1.12 Funding for the Community in the Search Area and the Potential Host Community 

In addition to community engagement funding, there will be community investment funding through 
the project in the long term including investment in local infrastructure and facilities. In the shorter 
term though once the Community Partnership Agreement has been signed, the Government has 
committed to make available up to £1million per annum per community as Community Investment 
Funding. This will increase to £2.5million per year where deep borehole investigations take place to 
assess the geological suitability of a site. 

It is proposed that such funding could be used to;

 improve community well-being, for example improvements to community facilities, 
enhancement of the quality of life or health and well-being of the community;

 enhance the natural and built environment including cultural and natural heritage, especially 
where economic benefits, for example through tourism, can be demonstrated; or

 provide economic development opportunities, for example employment opportunities, job 
creation, skills development, education or training, promotion of local enterprise, long-term 
economic development or economic diversification.

Further guidance on how this money will be managed will be made available but it is expected that 
the funds will be spent on projects relating to the local economic vision and socio-economic strategies 
and plans. Funding will be accessed through an open and transparent application process and 
considered by a Community Investment Panel appointed by the Community Partnership.

Significant additional investment for the host community, which will replace the Community 
Investment Funding, will be made available to the community chosen to host the GDF. This could 
include improved local education and skills capacity, improved transport infrastructure or improved 
recreational facilities. The document states – ‘this additional investment will be significant – 
comparable to other international GDF projects’. 

1.13 Property Compensation

RWM will work with the local Community Partnership in the siting process to assess whether there is 
likely to be any impact on property prices and consider whether a property support scheme would be 
appropriate. 

Page 12



1.14 Potential Host Community

The Potential Host Community is the community within a geographical area that could potentially host 
a GDF. Based on electoral wards the Potential Host Community would include all places where the 
following would be located;

 proposed surface and underground elements of a GDF;

 any associated development (as defined under the Planning Act 2008 in England) and any land 
required to mitigate impacts;

 transport links/routes from the GDF site to the nearest port, railhead or primary road network 
(i.e. out to where minor roads meet the nearest A roads);

 direct physical impacts associated with underground investigations, construction and 
operation of the GDF (identified though environmental impact assessment work carried out 
to support RWM’s engagement with communities and its development consent applications).

In some instances, it is recognised that the Potential Host Community may straddle two or more local 
authority boundaries. The final boundary will be determined by the Community Partnership and may 
need to change in the future to reflect any future changes to local government electoral boundaries. 
It is the Government’s view that only residents within the Potential Host Community will have the final 
say in whether they wish to host a GDF, through a Test of Public Support (ToPS).  

1.15 Right of Withdrawal

The community can withdraw from the siting process at any point up until a Test of Public Support 
(ToPS). The decision on whether to withdraw will be taken by the relevant principal local authorities 
on the Community Partnership and they have to agree to invoke the Right of Withdrawal (RoW). If 
one principal local decides to leave the Partnership, then this area will no longer form part of the 
Search Area but the process would continue in the remaining area. The local authorities may wish to 
seek the views of Government and the local community prior to taking a decision to withdraw. It is 
noted that RWM can also choose to withdraw from the process if they concluded that there were no 
longer prospects of finding a suitable site within either the Search Area or the Potential Host 
Community.  

1.16 Test of Public Support

Government policy is not to impose a GDF on a community. Before RWM seeks regulatory approval 
and Development Consent to begin construction of a GDF in a particular community there must be a 
Test of Public Support (ToPS) of residents within the Potential Host Community to determine whether 
the community is willing to host a GDF. 

The relevant principal local authorities on the Community Partnership will take the decision on of or 
when to hold a Test of Public Support (ToPS) and they must be in agreement. The Community 
Partnership will choose the mechanism for carrying out the Test of Public Support (ToPS) which could 
be by local referendum, a formal consultation or statistically representative opinion polling. Funding 

Page 13



will be available to cover the costs. The Government says that there will only be one opportunity for 
a Test of Public Support (ToPS) in a Potential Host Community but Community Partnerships are 
expected to monitor public opinion throughout the process. The community’s Right of Withdrawal will 
cease following the Test of Public Support (ToPS). If the outcome from the ToPS is positive, then RWM 
will be able to proceed with the necessary consents including the Development Consent process which 
in itself includes opportunities for public participation. Following the ToPS the Community Partnership 
may take on the role of a liaison group to provide an enduring interface between RWM and the local 
community through the process of development, operation and closure of the facility.

1.17 The Way Forward

The Working with Communities policy document identifies a complex process to identify a suitable 
site for a GDF. As has previously been suggested a programme of Member workshops is being planned 
to ensure all Members are provided with an opportunity to understand the process and contribute to 
developing a Council position. The first of the workshops has been arranged for 14th February at 4pm 
at the Falcon Club in Egremont. Further workshops will be planned over the coming months.   

2. Site Evaluation

In addition to the launch of the Working with Communities policy paper in December, Radioactive 
Waste Management Ltd (RWM), the subsidiary of the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority charged by 
Government to deliver a GDF for higher level activity wastes, launched a public consultation on ‘Site 
Evaluation’. A full version of the consultation document is available to view by following the link:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file
/766912/RWM_SiteEvaluation_ENGLAND.pdf .

The consultation closes on 31st March 2019. A number of events to support the consultation will also 
be organised.

The purpose of the Site Evaluation document is to bring together in one place the key relevant existing 
policy, legislative and regulatory requirements that will apply at various points throughout the Siting 
Process in order to support a consistent and understandable approach to the evaluation of sites which 
may be suitable to host a Geological Disposal Facility (“GDF”).

The document briefly explains the background and the history of the accumulation of higher level 
radioactive wastes and how RWM are to be responsible for the siting, construction, operation and 
eventual closure of the facility, adhering to the UK’s standards of safety, security and environmental 
protection.

It then summarises what information they have used to shape their final choice of site evaluation 
factors including siting process requirements, National Policy Statement requirements and legal 
requirements before exploring the scope of those factors, how RWM will use the criteria to evaluate 
areas and sites including comparative assessments and implement the siting process.

2.1 Site Evaluation Factors

The Site Evaluation has been designed to enable:

Page 14

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/766912/RWM_SiteEvaluation_ENGLAND.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/766912/RWM_SiteEvaluation_ENGLAND.pdf


o a consistent and transparent approach to the evaluation of potential areas and sites;

o an appropriate level of evaluation for each potential area and site against the existing and 
applicable Requirements, and to support:

o RWM’s future applications for permissions, including land use planning consents, 
environmental permits and a nuclear site licence.

The six factors that have been developed cover the broad topics of Safety, Community, Environment, 
Engineering Feasibility, Transport and Cost as set out in the table below.

 

The document then goes on to describe those items that would need to be included in each of the 
siting factor considerations as below.

Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



RWM will also consider whether a GDF is deliverable within the geographical constraints of the area 
and site under consideration, and the evidence gathered during this process may identify reasons for 
RWM to withdraw from the siting process in the area even in the event of a community being willing 
to continue. The information gathered under the site evaluation process will be utilised in making 
recommendations to Government and support the necessary applications for consents, permits and 
licences. As individual sites move through the siting process the level of information required will 
increase and the complexity of the research methods will increase likewise.

2.2 Responding to the consultation

A number of questions have been suggested by RWM that consultees may wish to use to frame their 
response, however additional comments are welcomed. Members are asked if they have any specific 
questions, comments or clarifications that they would like to be considered for inclusion in the 
consultation response. Responses to the consultation are required by 31st March and it is proposed 
that the final consultation is signed-off by the Chief Executive in consultation with the Chair of SNEB 
and the Portfolio Holder for Nuclear and Corporate Services.  

Page 18



3. Committee on Radioactive Waste Management (CoRWM)

Members may be aware of the work of the Committee on Radioactive Waste Management 
(CoRWM) which provides independent scrutiny and advice to the UK governments on the 
long-term management of higher activity radioactive wastes. Sir Nigel Thrift was recently 
appointed as the new Chair of CoRWM. On 7th October 2018 CoRWM published a number of 
technical position papers specifically in relation to the range of issues commonly raised 
through the ‘Working with Communities’ policy consultation process including; Geological 
disposal of radioactive waste – safety requirements, selecting a GDF site based on the best 
geology, Transport considerations for radioactive materials, and support for disposal rather 
than indefinite storage.  A further paper on retrievability is expected to be published shortly. 
Members can access these papers via the following link; 

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/latest?organisations%5B%5D=committee-
on-radioactive-waste-management

It is worth noting that CoRWM’s view in 2006 was that disposal was preferred over indefinite 
storage. CoRWM’s current (2018) position is that geological disposal remains the preferred 
option for long-term management of higher activity nuclear waste. 

Page 19

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/latest?organisations%5B%5D=committee-on-radioactive-waste-management
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/latest?organisations%5B%5D=committee-on-radioactive-waste-management


APPENDIX A

Ministerial Statement made by: Richard Harrington (Parliamentary Under Secretary of 
State, Minister for Business and Industry) on 19th December 2018.

As a pioneer of nuclear technology, the UK has accumulated a legacy of higher activity 
radioactive waste. The UK’s radioactive waste inventory is currently stored securely at various 
sites. However, each of these sites requires constant maintenance and protection to keep it 
safe and secure. Geological disposal is internationally recognised as the safest way to dispose 
permanently of higher activity radioactive waste.

Today I am publishing the policy paper, Implementing Geological Disposal: Working with 
Communities: An updated framework for the long-term management of higher activity 
radioactive waste. This document sets out the Government’s overarching policy framework 
for managing higher activity radioactive waste through implementing geological disposal and 
how we will work with communities to find a location for a geological disposal facility. 
Alongside publishing this policy paper, the Government is also today launching a new national 
consent-based process to find a site to host a geological disposal facility (GDF).

A GDF will be a highly engineered structure at a depth of between 200m – 1000m, which will 
be used to isolate radioactive waste behind several barriers to ensure that no harmful amount 
of radioactivity ever reach the surface environment. The structure will feature vaults and 
tunnels built inside a suitable, stable rock, within which packaged solid waste in purpose-built 
containers will be emplaced and then backfilled and sealed.

The GDF will be a multi-billion-pound infrastructure investment and will provide skilled jobs 
and benefits to the community that hosts it for more than 100 years. Delivering a GDF to 
dispose permanently of the UK radioactive waste inventory is a responsible public service to 
future generations and will contribute to the Government’s Industrial Strategy, which 
identified the key role the nuclear sector has in increasing productivity and driving clean 
growth.

There is no preferred location for a GDF and we are adopting a consent-based process to 
identify a suitable area to host the facility. A suitable site will be determined jointly by the 
willingness of a community to host a GDF and the suitability of the geology in the area. The 
process to find a location for the GDF will be led by RWM (Radioactive Waste Management 
Ltd, a subsidiary of the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority), who will work in partnership 
with local authorities and other community representatives to find a suitable location. Local 
authorities will have a key role in the decision-making process and will be required to test 
public support in the local area for a GDF being located there before construction can 
proceed.

Page 20



The policy paper we are publishing today applies to England only. Although the ‘Working with 
Communities’ consultation was published jointly by the UK Government and the Department 
of Agriculture, Environment and Rural Affairs in Northern Ireland, as the Northern Ireland 
Executive is currently suspended, a decision cannot be made at this time on further 
involvement by Northern Ireland in the geological disposal programme. Future policy 
decisions in relation to geological disposal in Northern Ireland would be a matter for the 
Executive.

The Welsh Government consulted in parallel with the UK Government on a similar process for 
engaging with communities and is separately publishing a summary of the issues raised, and 
their response to the consultation. Scotland has a different policy for the long-term 
management of higher activity radioactive waste and is not participating in the geological 
disposal programme.

Alongside the policy paper, I am also publishing separately a summary of the responses to the 
Working with Communities policy consultation that took place between 25 January and 18 
April 2018 and the Government’s response to the key issues raised. The responses to the 
consultation demonstrated broad support for the approach to engaging with communities. 
We have accepted the feedback we received on the benefit of providing additional detail and 
clarity on parts of the process for working with communities, particularly in relation to the 
role of principal local authorities.

Alongside this, RWM is publishing a suite of documents that include detailed guidance on how 
they will work with communities and regional reports from its national geological screening 
exercise, which will provide communities with information about the geology across the 
country. RWM is also publishing a draft site evaluation framework document for consultation, 
which describes the factors that it will take into account in evaluating prospective sites for a 
GDF.

The response to the consultation on the draft National Policy Statement (NPS) for Geological 
Disposal Infrastructure and the BEIS Select Committee report on the NPS will be published 
separately in due course, alongside a revised proposal for the NPS. Overall, the draft NPS is 
fit for purpose and contains the adequate levels of guidance and details needed by the 
developer. 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



STRATEGIC NUCLEAR AND ENERGY BOARD 060218

Consultation Response on the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority Draft 
Business Plan for 2019 to 2022

LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham
REPORT AUTHORS: Rob Ward & Mitchell McCombe

Summary

This paper presents a draft response to the consultation on the NDA’s draft Business Plan for 2019 to 
2022, to be agreed by the Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board.

Recommendation

1. That members review the proposed consultation response on the NDA’s draft Business Plan and 
provide comments to be incorporated before it is sent to the NDA by the deadline of the 8th 
February.

2. That the Board delegates authority to the Chief Executive in consultation with the Chair of the 
Board and the Portfolio Holder for Nuclear and Corporate Affairs to finalise and submit the 
consultation response.

1. Background

1.1. On 3rd December 2018, the NDA opened a consultation on the Draft Business Plan for 2019 to 
2022, with a deadline of 4th February 2019. The NDA has granted the Council an extension 
until 8th February, to allow time to coordinate the response following the meeting of the 
Strategic Nuclear & Board.

1.2. The NDA has stated that it is “happy to receive comments on any aspects of [the] Draft 
Business Plan and these will be considered where appropriate. When considering responses 
to this consultation, the NDA will give greater weight to responses that are based on argument 
and evidence, rather than simple expressions of support or opposition”.

1.3. This paper highlights key areas of the Draft Business Plan for the attention of members, and 
provides a summary of the consultation response that has been developed by the Nuclear & 
Energy Team, which can be found attached at Appendix A of this document.

1.4. Members can find the NDA Draft Business Plan here:

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/nuclear-decommissioning-authority-
business-plan-2019-to-2022 

2. Principles of the Draft Consultation Response

2.1. A draft of the full proposed consultation response may be found at Appendix A. Members are 
asked to review this draft prior to the meeting of the Board and submit any comments for 
inclusion before the deadline of the 8th February.

Page 23

Agenda Item 5

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/nuclear-decommissioning-authority-business-plan-2019-to-2022
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/nuclear-decommissioning-authority-business-plan-2019-to-2022


2.2. The draft response is based on the accepted knowledge and understanding that Copeland is 
the host community for the vast majority of the UK’s higher level nuclear/radioactive waste 
and spent fuels and will continue to be so for multiple future decades. Being the host of the 
most complex and challenging NDA legacy site for circa 70 years, we remain convinced that 
our views should be taken seriously by the NDA.

2.3. The comments on the 2019 to 2022 Plan are formed around the following framework of 
objectives relating to the nuclear operations, radioactive waste management and 
decommissioning activities in the Borough;

 Safe and secure operation of the sites so that current generations and the environment 
are protected;

 Strategies and plans that do not prejudice the social wellbeing of future generations;

 Protection of prosperity and growth of commercial activity;

 Retention of our young people and attraction of businesses and professionals to support 
and grow existing businesses, and to promote innovation, enterprise, and diversification 
of the local economy.

2.4. The Business Plan is also reviewed in light of the recommendations made in the 2018 Public 
Accounts Committee Report (“the PAC Report”) on the NDA’s Progress on Risk Reduction at 
Sellafield.

3. Summary of the draft Consultation Response

3.1. The Draft Business Plan is similar in format and content to previous years, and our response 
builds on comments made in relation to last the 2018 consultation. It is noted that some of 
those comments have been incorporated into the current draft, but where comments have 
not been incorporated, a response is requested.

3.2. Key aspects of the Council’s response are as follows:

 The Council expects the NDA and Sellafield Ltd to take measures to futureproof against 
funding volatility, in order to: 1) contribute to Copeland’s growth objectives in creating a 
more resilient and diverse economy; 2) meet the NDA’s Energy Act obligations; and 3) 
satisfy PAC Report recommendation 6 regarding the question of whether the NDA’s 
economic activities justify the current levels of public investment.

 The plans do not contain sufficient information or commitment regarding the Sellafield 
Transformation. The response notes concern that there is lack of clarity on the vision for 
the Sellafield Transformation programme, through which some of the technological and 
social developments required to ensure extraction of economic value from Sellafield for 
the taxpayer will occur. 

 Once again, the Business Plan notes the Programme & Project Partnership (PPP) as a key 
milestone, but lacks any further detail. The launch of the new framework will 
fundamentally change the way that projects are procured and delivered on the site. Over 
coming years as a greater proportion of major project delivery is procured through the 
PPP framework, it is essential that we work with the NDA to maintain or enhance the 

Page 24



proportion of Sellafield Ltd’s economic and social impact in Copeland, to secure a vibrant 
local economy in the future. The Council has a particular interest in ensuring that PPP 
partners are directly committed to supporting the realisation of the economic vision for 
Copeland.

 The NDA’s continued progress in decommissioning across the estate changes the 
geographic distribution of risk associated with ongoing decommissioning and waste 
management on the Sellafield site as a proportion of overall estate-wide risk. We would 
expect the allocation of socio-economic funding to reflect this. The Transformation 
programme is a vehicle by which Sellafield Ltd's social impact and economic activities can 
help to achieve this.

 The Council remains concerned at the incremental approach to Sellafield becoming the 
UK nuclear material consolidation site for the long term storage of radioactive waste, 
spent fuel and nuclear materials until a Geological Disposal Facility is provided, a position 
that this Council has not accepted. This outcome will have profound consequences for 
Copeland now and for many future generations.

 At this stage, the Council has no preference or position with regard to the location of the 
GDF locally or nationally but recognise that the Copeland community is affected 
regardless of the final choice of site for a GDF.

 The publication of the Business Plan comes at a time when implementation of the Nuclear 
Sector Deal is gaining momentum. This landmark commitment between government and 
industry has potential to significantly benefit Copeland as a Centre of Nuclear Excellence. 
We see that the NDA, as a key nuclear stakeholder, has a lead role to play in ensuring that 
these benefits are realised in Copeland across the five foundations of People, Place, Ideas, 
Infrastructure and Business Environment.

 Encouragement for the NDA to take a more positive role through the use of its local assets 
in generating new economic development opportunities to support the Council’s 
aspirations for growth and diversification.

 The move towards greater transparency of Mission Progress Reporting is welcome, given 
the Council’s previous expressions of concern in relation to this issue.

4. Summary and Next Steps

4.1. It is requested that members of the Board review the draft consultation response at Appendix 
A prior to the meeting of the Board on 6th February. Members are asked to submit any 
comments for inclusion at the February SNEB meeting, to enable the final consultation 
response to be submitted to the NDA by the deadline of the 8th February.

4.2. The NDA will publish the final Business Plan for 2019 to 2022 in March/April of 2019.

APPENDIX A: Draft Response to Consultation on NDA Draft Business Plan 2019 to 2022

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Copeland Borough Council Response to the consultation on the Nuclear Decommissioning 
Authority’s draft Business Plan 2019 to 2022

January 2019

Please find below Copeland Borough Council’s response to the NDA Draft Business Plan 
2019 to 2022.

1. Introductory Comments

Copeland Borough Council welcomes the opportunity to comment on the draft NDA Business Plan 
for 2019 to 2022. This response has been developed through a process of Council Member and 
Officer engagement, including consideration by the Council’s Strategic Nuclear and Energy Board in 
February 2019.

This response is drafted in the accepted knowledge and understanding that Copeland is the host 
community for the vast majority of the UK’s higher level radioactive waste, spent nuclear fuels and 
nuclear materials, and will continue to be so for multiple future generations. Being the host of the 
most complex and challenging NDA legacy site for circa 70 years, we remain convinced that our 
views should be taken seriously by the NDA.

Our response builds on comments made in relation to last year’s Business Plan consultation, and it is 
noted that some of those comments have been incorporated into the current draft Business Plan, 
while others have not. Where comments have not been incorporated, we expect a response or an 
explanation as to why. Our comments have been developed against the following framework of 
objectives relating to the nuclear operations, radioactive waste management and decommissioning 
activities in the Borough;

 Safe and secure operation of the sites so that current generations and the environment are 
protected;

 Strategies and plans that do not prejudice the social wellbeing of future generations;
 Protection of prosperity and growth of commercial activity;
 Retention of our young people and attraction of businesses and professionals to support and 

grow existing businesses, and to promote innovation, enterprise, and diversification of the 
local economy.

The business plan is also reviewed in light of the recommendations made in the Public Accounts 
Committee Report (“the PAC Report”) on the NDA’s Progress on Risk Reduction at Sellafield.

2. General Comments

2.1 The Council is pleased to note that the format and style, which has been used in previous 
business plan documents, has been broadly retained and the increased use of diagrams 

Page 27



makes the document clear to read and easy to follow. The 20 year Priority Programme 
Overview is a useful way to present the overall challenge faced by the NDA, which we 
understand will be supplemented by further communication tools (including the Mission 
Progress Report) which will provide more frequent and detailed progress updates against 
the strategic themes.

2.2 The Council is disappointed that the NDA has chosen, yet again, to hold a consultation over 
the Christmas and New Year period. Although this consultation has been extended from an 
8-week period to a 9-week period, we still stress our disappointment. While we recognise 
that this is controlled by central government procedures, we continue to encourage the NDA 
to request earlier engagement and to take into account local authority’s democratic 
processes when scheduling consultations. We are however grateful that after some 
engagement, we have been granted a short extension to allow us to finalise our response 
following approval by the Council’s Strategic Nuclear & Energy Board on 6th February.

2.3 As has been expressed in previous consultation responses, the Council is keen to encourage 
the NDA to take a more positive role through the use of its local assets in generating new 
economic development opportunities to support the Council’s aspirations for growth and 
diversification. It is welcome that this view is reflected in Recommendation 6 of the Public 
Accounts Committee Report, and we would like to see future NDA Business Plans reflect this.

2.4 The publication of the Business Plan comes at a time when implementation of the Nuclear 
Sector Deal is gaining momentum. This landmark commitment between government and 
industry has potential to significantly benefit Copeland as a Centre of Nuclear Excellence. We 
see that the NDA, as a key nuclear stakeholder, has a lead role to play in ensuring that these 
benefits are realised in Copeland across the five foundations of People, Place, Ideas, 
Infrastructure and Business Environment.

2.5 The PAC Report concludes that collectively the value of Sellafield has not been extracted in 
support of a sustainable Copeland economy, and that the full social and economic value 
from the NDA estate is not currently being realised. The consequences of these conclusions 
add to the challenge faced by Copeland as it seeks to diversify its economy in a post-
reprocessing environment. The NDA and Sellafield Ltd must support and facilitate the 
opportunities presented by the Sellafield Transformation to maximise the economic 
opportunities available, and as a catalyst for the future economic growth of Copeland and 
UK PLC. While the Council recognises that the NDA’s mission is quite rightly focused on 
hazard and risk reduction, we would expect to see the NDA’s economic and social vision and 
activities reflected to a much greater degree in the business plan.

3. Specific Comments

Foreword, p.9

3.1 The Council welcomes the detailed foreword by the Chief Executive Officer, David Peattie, 
which notes key challenges over the next three years, including the publication of Strategy 4, 
which we look forward to being consulted upon while it is being drafted, as a key 
stakeholder. The foreword justifiably notes key successes that have been achieved in the 

Page 28



past year, including the last shear of spent fuel at ThORP, but also the areas in which the 
NDA must improve in order to deliver its mission, including strengthening of governance 
arrangements.

3.2 As highlighted by the Oxford Economics Report, Sellafield Ltd’s economic activity accounts 
for 55% of Copeland’s economy. Consequently, the Spending Review of the NDA’s budget for 
the next five years has potentially significant implications for Copeland. Should the level of 
inward investment at Sellafield reduce over time, the local economy and community would 
suffer. It is expected that, as the level of hazard and risk on the Sellafield site reduces as 
decommissioning activity progresses, the level of site funding may reduce accordingly. 
Therefore, it is incumbent upon the NDA and Sellafield Ltd to take steps to prepare its supply 
chain, and the wider communities that rely upon Sellafield’s current economic activity, to 
become more diverse and resilient and to move to create an economic model that facilitates 
this shift. We see the Sellafield Transformation programme as the vehicle through which this 
will be achieved.

Delivering Value to our Businesses, p. 16

3.3 It is reassuring that the areas of focus on page 17 are aligned to the recommendations of the 
PAC Report, including Governance and Assurance, Management and Reporting of 
Performance, Socio-economics and Delivery.

3.4 We are glad to find that the points listed under “Socio-economics” align well with the 
Council’s growth priorities for Copeland, particularly the second bullet point around 
diversification of the local economy.

3.5 There is missed opportunity in this section of the business plan to highlight how delivery of 
value to the NDA’s businesses is also of value to the UK taxpayer. The Oxford Economics 
Report demonstrated the economic reliance of Copeland upon Sellafield Ltd and its supply 
chain. We would welcome more information in the Business Plan pertaining to how the NDA 
through its subsidiaries intends to effect beneficial change in order to meet its Energy Act 
obligations to wider local social, environmental and economic impact.

NDA Estates Key Programme, p.20

3.6 The NDA’s planning assumption date for the availability of a GDF in 2040 is considered 
unrealistic. The Council remains concerned at the incremental approach to Sellafield 
becoming the UK nuclear material consolidation site for the long term storage of radioactive 
waste, spent fuel and nuclear materials until a GDF is provided, a position that this Council 
has not accepted. This outcome will have profound consequences for Copeland now and for 
many future generations. The Council will continue to develop its position in this regard and 
in doing so is seeking to ensure that economic and social benefits are secured, while 
minimising prejudicial outcomes for future generations providing a National service and to 
ensure that alternative economic opportunities aren’t excluded as a consequence. In the 
short term where interim/temporary stores are changed to permanent, long term stores the 
Council will expect such proposals to generate additional benefits to reflect this changing 
role. 

Page 29



Our Funding, p.25

3.7 While it is acknowledged that the NDA’s activities mean that the organisation must manage 
a significant degree of income volatility, and that funding is determined by UK government 
via the Spending Review, the Council expects the NDA and Sellafield Ltd to take measures to 
futureproof against this volatility. This could be achieved through a combination of 
Transformation initiatives that results in the development of a new and more resilient 
economic model, which would simultaneously; 1) contribute to Copeland’s growth 
objectives in creating a more resilient and diverse economy, 2) meet the NDA’s Energy Act 
obligations, and 3) satisfy PAC Report recommendation 6 regarding the question of whether 
the NDA’s economic activities justify the current levels of public investment.

3.8 The “Planned Income and Expenditure 2019/20” table on page 22 clearly highlights that 
there is an order of magnitude difference between investment at Sellafield and at other 
sites. The NDA’s approach should continue to reflect the uniqueness of Copeland’s role (both 
now and for multiple future generations) as the host of the most significant, hazardous and 
complex of the UK’s nuclear sites and the majority of the UK’s nuclear materials and 
radioactive waste inventory.

3.9 We would like to express our concern that the reduced level of socio-economic funding from 
the FY2016/17 value of £32 million to £31 million in the past two years has been maintained 
for 2019/20. The inclusion of “Place” as one of the five foundations of the UK’s Industrial 
Strategy reflects the value of places in increasing productivity and boosting our economy. 
Given the dominance of Copeland’s economy by the nuclear sector, we would hope to see 
levels of socio-economic investment increase in coming years with a view to addressing the 
Public Accounts Committee findings regarding the NDA’s social impact and delivering on the 
Industrial Strategy and Nuclear Sector Deal targets. The NDA’s continued progress in 
decommissioning across the estate changes the geographic distribution of risk associated 
with ongoing decommissioning and waste management on the Sellafield site as a proportion 
of overall estate-wide risk. We would expect the allocation of socio-economic funding to 
reflect this. The Transformation programme is a vehicle by which Sellafield Ltd's social 
impact and economic activities can help to achieve this.

Our Businesses – Sellafield Ltd, p. 28

3.10 The Council welcomes the continued priority given in the Business Plan to high-hazard and 
risk reduction at Sellafield Ltd, with retrievals from the Pile Fuel Cladding Silo and Magnox 
Swarf Storage Silo cited in the 5-year key milestones.

3.11 The Key Activities listed on pages 25 and 26 clearly demonstrate that the NDA and Sellafield 
Ltd are undertaking world-first, unique projects to meet the unique decommissioning 
challenge posed by the UK’s most complex nuclear site.

3.12 The Council has previously expressed concern relating to poor transparency of mission 
progress reporting and therefore fully supports Recommendation 1 of the PAC Report. The 
NDA’s move towards publication of a Mission Progress Report in 2018 is a positive step in 
the right direction. This reporting should also make clear the many successes that are 

Page 30



achieved at Sellafield in progressing the site’s mission in delivering what is a unique 
decommissioning challenge.

3.13 The Council notes that the plans do not contain sufficient information or commitment 
regarding the Sellafield Transformation. The Council is concerned that there is lack of clarity 
on the vision for the Sellafield Transformation programme, through which some of the 
technological and social developments required to ensure extraction of economic value from 
Sellafield for the taxpayer will occur. An unsuccessful Transformation would not only impact 
the local economy both in the short and long term, but will also undermine the success of 
the Nuclear Sector Deal and the UK’s Industrial Strategy. The loss of a highly skilled nuclear 
workforce and the missed opportunity to create the business environment to enable 
diversification of the supply chain and export of transferable capability from the UK’s leading 
nuclear economic region could result in a loss of confidence in the NDA and government. 
The Council expects the NDA and Sellafield Ltd to agree on Special Purpose Vehicles for 
delivering the mission differently, and for the NDA to challenge BEIS over impediments to 
progress. Successful Transformation is as much, if not more so, NDA's responsibility as it is 
Sellafield Ltd’s. Therefore, it is incumbent upon the NDA to work with Copeland Borough 
Council and other stakeholders to ensure that Sellafield, through the Transformation, is 
enabled to develop technology, techniques and approaches that could be to achieve the 
site’s mission quicker and cheaper, avoiding the need to develop costly bespoke nuclear 
solutions, while creating a resilient local economy.

3.14 Once again, the Business Plan notes the Programme & Project Partnership (PPP) as a key 
milestone, but lacks any further detail. Taking into consideration the potentially significant 
economic and spatial planning impacts of this on West Cumbria, we would welcome greater 
clarity in advance of the framework going live. UK Government’s approval of this framework 
would demonstrate confidence in the NDA and Sellafield Ltd to continue their world-leading 
work to overcome the uniquely complex nuclear decommissioning challenges on the site. 
The launch of the new framework will fundamentally change the way that projects are 
procured and delivered on the site, and given the dominance of the local economy by 
Sellafield and its supply chain, with the associated alignment of the local workforce and skills 
agenda with the needs of the nuclear sector, over coming years as a greater proportion of 
major project delivery is procured through the PPP framework, it is essential that we take 
steps to maintain or enhance the proportion of Sellafield Ltd’s economic impact in Copeland, 
to secure a vibrant local economy in the future.

3.15 We remain both concerned that the Sellafield Site is becoming the UK national consolidation 
safe for nuclear materials, spent fuel and radioactive waste. We remind the NDA that 
Copeland Borough Council has not accepted this position.

3.16 It is interesting to see that facilitation of the Industrial Strategy through the Nuclear Sector 
Deal features in the Critical Enablers section. Copeland Borough Council will be progressing a 
piece of work to identify how the Council might engage with government and industry to 
ensure that the Deal benefits Copeland. We would welcome close engagement from the 
NDA on this.

Page 31



Our Businesses – LLWR

3.17 It is reassuring that the NDA is committed to supporting Small and Medium Enterprise 
organisations by targeting overall spend with them. The Council has requested for LLWR to 
share their supply chain model and methods for ensuring benefit to SMEs and local 
businesses, with a view to identification of how this might be adopted by Sellafield Ltd 
through the Transformation agenda, noting the orders of magnitude difference in 
expenditure between the two sites. We would welcome a response and engagement by the 
NDA and LLWR on this issue.

Our Businesses – Radioactive Waste Management Ltd

3.18 The Council supports the Governments approach to the safe disposal of higher radioactive 
wastes through the provision of a Geological Disposal Facility (GDF) and, as host community 
for the vast majority of the wastes that would be disposed of in the GDF, we will continue to 
press the Government to progress the process, recognising the risk to the environment and 
local communities that the current interim storage of this waste and the continued delay in 
bringing forward a site for a GDF, presents. 

3.19 At this stage, the Council has no preference or position with regard to the location of the 
GDF locally or nationally but recognise that the Copeland community is affected regardless 
of the final choice of site for a GDF.

3.20 The Council takes the view that the current planning assumption date for the provision of 
the GDF of 2040 is unrealistic and will seek from Government a more realistic timescale and 
information on what the plans are for long-term storage of these waste materials.

Page 32



STRATEGIC NUCLEAR AND ENERGY BOARD 060219

Case for Accelerated Decommissioning of Calder Hall Magnox Reactor 
Site

LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham
REPORT AUTHOR: Rob Ward

Summary:

In response to work being undertaken by the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority 
(NDA) to review the strategy (timing and sequence) of decommissioning of the UK’s 
Magnox Reactor Fleet, this report sets out the potential case for acceleration of 
decommissioning of Calder Hall on the Sellafield site.

Recommendation:

1. That the board delegates authority to the Chief Executive in consultation with the 
Chair of the Board and the Portfolio Holder for Nuclear and Corporate Affairs for 
development of the case for accelerated decommissioning of Calder Hall.

1. Background

1.1. Members will recall a paper presented to the Board in December 2018 on the work 
being undertaken by the NDA to review the strategy for decommissioning of Magnox 
reactors. 

1.2. There are eleven Magnox reactor sites in the UK, the first of which was Calder Hall, 
which entered operation in 1956. Between 1989 and 2016, all 11 of these reactors 
ceased operation.

1.3. The baseline decommissioning strategy for Magnox reactors involves an extended 
period of Care & Maintenance following reactor defueling and post operational clean 
out. The drivers for this strategy have been challenged by technological and policy 
developments and there are potential benefits to be gained from alternative 
strategies. The NDA are developing a process by which to decide which, if any, of the 
sites may be accelerated versus the baseline strategy.

1.4. The NDA is also in the process of bringing Magnox Ltd, the operator of Magnox 
reactors, into the NDA estate as a wholly-owned subsidiary, similar to the 
arrangement with Sellafield Ltd.

1.5. Defuelling of Calder Hall, on the Sellafield Site due for completion in 2019/20, is 
underway and the reactor is due to enter C&M in 2034.

Page 33

Agenda Item 6



2. Case for Change

2.1. The NDA is reviewing whether the decision is justified to apply the baseline strategy 
to all Magnox sites. Since the last full review of this strategy, there have been 
developments in the decommissioning arena in the UK and internationally, including:

 Advances in remote decommissioning technologies that can significantly reduce 
the need for manual access to facilities to carry out dismantling work;

 Magnox Ltd has developed significant experience in remote handling, packaging 
and storage of Intermediate and Higher Level Wastes on its sites;

 Government policies on long term management of Higher Activity Wastes now 
consider additional options including near surface disposal;

 New waste routes have become available for Low Level Wastes (LLW) enabling 
a significant proportion to be diverted to landfill;

 Increasingly, international bodies such as the International Atomic Energy 
Agency hold the view that reactor dismantling should take place as soon as 
possible.

2.2. The NDA’s Strategy 3 references early work by NDA and Magnox Ltd to research 
implications of alternative decommissioning strategies, which found that a review of 
the strategy is justified.

2.3. Firstly, after a certain period of time, short lived radioisotopes will have decayed and 
the activity of the waste inventory is dominated by radioisotopes with long half-lives. 
This means that a large proportion of the wastes will still not be suitable for 
management as LLW even after a significant period of C&M.

2.4. Second, cost modelling has shown that as deferral time increases, the reduction in 
decommissioning costs (resulting from increased worker access) is offset by increased 
costs of preparation for C&M and ongoing management arrangements.

2.5. Lastly, the justification to wait until greater levels of manual access to facilities is 
possible is likely to be negated due to the advancement of remote technologies that 
could be deployed, which would remove the conventional safety risk and dose to 
humans.

2.6. Some of the work that is ongoing at Magnox sites to prepare for C&M may not be 
required if the Strategy were to change. Therefore, the NDA considers this an 
appropriate time to review the Strategy.

Page 34



3. Proposed Changes to the Strategy

3.1. For each site, the following strategic options are under review:

A. No deferral (i.e. immediate and continuous decommissioning)

B. Deferral with planned interventions (i.e. the current strategy)

C. Deferral with minimal interventions (i.e. doing more sooner to minimise risk and 
cost over the period of Care & Maintenance)

For B and C, there are short, medium and long deferral variants, giving 7 strategic 
options in total for each site.

3.2. The NDA are seeking to determine the optimum strategy on a site by site basis, based 
on an assessment of the factors noted in 5.2, with a view to identifying one or more 
sites for accelerated decommissioning in the near-term.

3.3. The intention is not to set the timing and sequencing of all reactors at this stage, as 
the Strategy must be flexible to future developments.

4. The Process

4.1. At a workshop led by the NDA and attended by Council officers on 28th November 
2018, BEIS, Scottish and Welsh Government, other Nuclear Legacy Advisory Forum 
member authorities and Magnox personnel came together to decide upon the factors 
to be considered in site strategy optimisation. The summary report from this 
workshop will be made available in the Member’s Area at the Copeland Centre, 
Whitehaven.

4.2. The workshop focused on the selection of factors and criteria that will be used by the 
NDA to determine the optimum decommissioning strategy of each Magnox reactor. 
These factors are:

1. Risk to workers and the public
2. Minimising impact to the environment
3. Socio-economics and supply chain
4. Enabling the NDA mission
5. Resources and skills
6. Logistics, transport and infrastructure
7. Lifetime cost

The workshop summary report at Appendix A captures the discussion around each of 
the factors.

4.3. The proposed method by which these factors will be applied to the assessment of 
sites was not shared at the workshop.

4.4. It was noted that compliance with regulatory and statutory requirements is 
considered essential, and therefore these do not feature within the factors, as this 
would not help to differentiate between strategies or sites.

Page 35



5. Potential Benefits of Proposed Changes

5.1. The method by which the optimum strategy for each site will be determined is 
objective and will allow site-specific issues to be considered fairly and transparently. 
This optimum strategy will be influenced by consideration of potential site-specific 
benefits and dis-benefits, including:

 The nature and extent of risks vary from site to site;

 Some sites have greater potential than others to affect the environment;

 Some sites are located in or near more sensitive environments than others;

 Some sites are more sensitive to the effects of climate change than others;

 Some sites are located near to existing waste stores and others would require 
new stores;

 Some sites dominate the local economy and supply chain to a greater extent 
than others;

 Opportunities for land reuse vary by location and depending on timing;

 Visual impact of reactors is greater in some locations;

 There is an optimum sequence of decommissioning to provide learning for 
future units;

 Some sites may be more suitable for trialling new technologies such as robotics 
and artificial intelligence;

 Some sites may be preferable for trials of alternative strategic options for longer 
term disposal;

 Ease of reacquiring skilled workforce, noting that the age profile of workforce is 
an issue at all sites.

5.2. All of the above could influence the lifetime cost per site. There will be an overarching 
optimum strategy which minimises total lifetime cost of decommissioning of the 
entire Magnox reactor fleet. This may be disrupted by consideration of other 
conflicting factors.

6. Case for Acceleration of Calder Hall

6.1. The strategy review presents the opportunity for accelerated decommissioning of the 
Calder Hall reactor on the Sellafield site (i.e. placing this site higher up the sequence 
relative to other sites and completing reactor dismantling sooner than planned).

6.2. The following table presents an outline of this case against the 7 optimisation factors. 
Members of the Board are invited to input to the development of this case before it 
is presented to external stakeholders.

Factor Consideration of Calder Hall
1) Risk to workers 
and public

As the oldest Magnox reactor, the deterioration of the building fabric 
and the potential for significant quantities of asbestos to be present 
pose risk to workers. The costs borne by the taxpayer associated with 

Page 36



Factor Consideration of Calder Hall
maintaining the building in a safe state over a long period of C&M 
could be significant, and could increase over time to meet future 
regulatory (such as environmental or conventional health and safety) 
requirements.

2) Environmental 
Impact

 Linked to the above, the status of the facility could deteriorate to 
the point that compliance with environmental regulation attracts 
unsupportable cost. This is expected to escalate over time and is 
difficult to predict.

 Given the proximity to existing waste stores and treatment 
facilities on the Sellafield site, decommissioning of Calder Hall 
could involve significantly fewer off-site transports than other 
sites.

 Calder Hall is also local to the Low Level Waste Repository, to 
which a significant proportion of the waste generated will be 
consigned.

3) Socio-
Economics and 
Supply Chain

 The local supply chain and economy are disproportionately reliant 
upon Sellafield, as highlighted by the 2017 Oxford Economic 
report.

 There is potential to offset some of the potentially negative 
impact of the Sellafield Transformation to the local economy (up 
to 3,000 “surplus roles” over the next 4 to 5 years) by using 
decommissioning of Calder Hall as an opportunity to develop a 
Magnox Reactor Decommissioning capability, made up of 
Sellafield, Magnox and supply chain personnel. This also plays into 
Sellafield’s “alternative delivery methods” agenda under the 
Transformation programme.

 This capability could build “lead and learn” experience at Calder 
Hall that could be transferred to the other Magnox sites around 
the UK.

4) Enabling the 
NDA Mission

 The NDA have stated that the logical order for decommissioning 
the reactors is approximate to the design order. Calder Hall was 
the first Magnox reactor and therefore should be first in line for 
decommissioning to provide maximum “lead and learn” benefit.

 Technologies for remote decommissioning are already being 
deployed on the Sellafield site. Calder Hall could be a test-bed for 
remote Magnox Reactor decommissioning technologies that could 
subsequently be applied to other sites.

 As Calder Hall sits on the existing Sellafield site, there is 
opportunity to free land for reuse to enable the Sellafield Mission 
and deliver greater value for money to the taxpayer.

 Alternatively, the land could be reused to enable new missions 
which might be developed in the nation’s interests. There is 
potential to test and deploy new and emerging technologies that 

Page 37



Factor Consideration of Calder Hall
could contribute to the mission or to the clean growth strategy or 
to generate additional revenue streams.

5) Resources and 
skills

 The UK’s highest density of nuclear skills and expertise is centred 
around the Sellafield site, and could readily be deployed to 
support decommissioning activity. Cumbria is home to around 
30% of the UK’s nuclear work force.

 The skills pipeline in Copeland is tailored to the needs of the 
sector.

6) Logistics, 
transport and 
infrastructure

The benefit of Calder Hall is its position on the Sellafield site, meaning 
that infrastructure such as road, rail, crane capacity and other 
supporting facilities are immediately available.

7) Lifetime Cost The Council is not in a position to comment on this factor, as this is a 
matter for Magnox Ltd, Sellafield Ltd and the NDA to manage 
commercially. However:
 The NDA should pursue strategic options that represent value to 

the taxpayer and which deliver social and economic benefit to the 
local community;

 Lifetime cost links to expenditure at Sellafield and the associated 
flow-down into the supply chain and local economy.

6.3. This could offer potential benefits to Copeland, including:

 Development of Copeland-based Magnox Reactor Decommissioning capability 
and “lead and learn” experience, which could be exported to support 
decommissioning of the UK’s other Magnox sites, and potentially transferred 
internationally and/or to other reactor designs where there is transferability (e.g. 
Advanced Gas-Cooled reactors). This could help to smooth the labour demand-
supply imbalance expected over coming years in the Sellafield supply chain, and 
would develop and retain skill and experience in Copeland.

 Freeing land for reuse or alternative development, which could contribute to 
achieving risk reduction and clean up sooner.

 Freeing land for reuse to enable new missions, such as deployment of new and 
emerging technologies, which might be developed in the nations interests and/or 
to help to meet the targets set out in the Nuclear Sector Deal.

7. Next Steps

7.1. Based on completion of this initial phase of work, the NDA will write an outline 
business case to request board-level buy-in to the change of Strategy by mid-2019. 
We have requested full transparency from the NDA as the strategy review process 
progresses and further information becomes available.

7.2. Through a process of member engagement, the Council should develop the case for 
accelerated decommissioning of Calder Hall and present this to the NDA, so as to 
influence the site optimisation process to the benefit of Copeland.

Page 38



STRATEGIC NUCLEAR AND ENERGY BOARD 060219

Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy Competition on 
Advanced Modular Reactors

LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham
REPORT AUTHOR: Rob Ward

Summary:

This paper presents an overview of the Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy 
(BEIS) competition on Advanced Modular Reactors.

Recommendation:

1. That members of the Board note the information in this paper relating to the UK 
Government’s Advanced Modular Reactor competition.

2. That the Board endorses further engagement by Council Officers with external 
stakeholders on developments in this field, to ensure that Copeland plays a role and 
benefits from the next phase of nuclear technology development in the UK.

1. Background

1.1. Members will recall a paper presented at the December meeting of the Board, relating 
to the UK’s Industrial Strategy, under which a Nuclear Sector Deal has been agreed 
between Government and Industry to boost productivity in the Nuclear Sector.

1.2. New ideas and innovation will be needed if the nuclear sector is to reduce the cost of 
decommissioning. and new nuclear build missions, so as to deliver value to the 
taxpayer. The Deal sets out measures to stimulate new ideas and fresh thinking to 
meet these demands.

1.3. To ensure that the UK is leading this innovation, through the Nuclear Sector Deal, BEIS 
is establishing a new framework to support advanced nuclear technologies and 
challenge the industry to bring forward technically and commercially viable 
propositions that could be developed with private finance. The framework comprises 
the following elements:

 Financing
 Research & Development (R&D) programme
 Regulatory readiness
 Supply chain development
 Land access and siting

1.4. In December 2017, an Expert Finance Working Group, chaired by Fiona Reilly, was 
formed to develop a market framework for financing small nuclear reactors. The 
EFWG’s report (the Reilly Report) was published in August 2018, and makes a number 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



of recommendations for Her Majesty’s Government to consider to assist in enabling 
the development of small nuclear projects in the UK. The Group reported that the UK 
could be well placed to develop these “First of a Kind” small reactor projects and that 
they could be commercially viable propositions.

2. Small Scale Nuclear Generation

2.1. Modular Reactors are smaller than conventional nuclear power station reactors and 
are designed so that much of the plant can be assembled in a factory and transported 
to site for construction. They usually fall into 2 categories – either water-cooled 
reactors similar to existing nuclear power station reactors but on a smaller scale 
(known as small modular reactors or SMRs), or Advanced Modular Reactors (AMRs), 
based on next generation technology.

2.2. SMRs and AMRs are designed to be manufactured in a factory environment and then 
transported to suitable sites in preparation for grid connectivity. In theory, this will 
allow greater quality control during manufacture, and reduced time on site with cost 
and schedule savings relative to large scale nuclear. However, the achievement of 
these savings is dependent on the ability to scale up manufacture and achieve “fleet 
deployment”. Levels of investment required are an order of magnitude smaller than 
conventional large nuclear reactors, but power output is also far lower, in the region 
of tens to hundreds of Megawatts.

2.3. The Nuclear Sector Deal notes that new, smaller power plants should (re)use existing 
licensed sites to take advantage of past investment in infrastructure and grid 
connections, and the skilled workforces around them. The government will therefore 
be actively considering the question of siting for SMRs.

3. BEIS Small Nuclear Competition

3.1. On the 5th and 6th November 2018, Council Officers attended a BEIS-led conference 
on “Commercialisation of Small Nuclear in the UK” at the Manufacturing Technology 
Centre in Coventry, alongside colleagues from CoNE and Britain’s Energy Coast 
Business Cluster. The conference brought together 200 experts from across the 
finance, nuclear, construction and manufacturing sectors with technology vendors 
and central and local government to explore how to work together to take smaller 
nuclear reactors from concept to construction. It is understood that this was the first 
of a series of engagements in this field to be facilitated by BEIS.

3.2. At this conference, Richard Harrington MP, the Minister for Business and Industry, 
reiterated commitments made in the Nuclear Sector Deal and set out the next steps, 
including:

 The launch of a £32 million Advanced Manufacturing and Construction 
Programme, which will allow companies to bid for funds to test new technologies;

 Inviting developers to submit design proposals to identify potential risks with 
proposals early on, reducing investment risks for potential backers;

Page 40



 The intention to open the Generic Design Assessment (GDA) process for small and 
advanced modular reactors in early 2019. Expressions of interested in this process 
were invited in late 2018.

3.3. Eight advanced reactor technology vendors are competing in the BEIS-run 
competition, through which up to £44m of funding will be provided to enable those 
organisations selected to carry out research and development of advanced nuclear 
technologies in preparation for deployment in the UK. The eight vendors are:

1. Advanced Reactor Concepts LLC
2. DBD Limited
3. SEALER UK (LeadCold)
4. Moltex Energy Limited
5. Tokamak Energy Ltd
6. U-Battery
7. Ultra Safe Nuclear Corporation
8. Westinghouse Electric Company

Abstracts submitted by the vendors selected for Phase 1 of the competition may be 
found at Appendix A.

3.4. The vendors provided feasibility studies and business cases to BEIS by 15th January, 
which will be assessed by March 2019. It is expected that three or four vendors will 
be selected and awarded funding to progress the development of their designs 
further.

3.5. More information can be found via the following link:

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/industry-experts-assemble-in-bid-to-make-
cutting-edge-nuclear-technology-a-reality 

4. Next Steps

4.1. Copeland has been the host of many “firsts” in the nuclear industry, and this history 
has led to the development of world-leading supply chain capability in design, 
engineering and manufacturing. Copeland is also host to the Central Labs of the 
National Nuclear Laboratory (NNL) and other research institutions where R&D in this 
field could take place. There is real potential for Copeland to play a leading role in the 
next generation of the nuclear industry, by becoming a test bed of new technology 
and manufacturing of engineering solutions and as the location for deployment of 
advanced reactor technologies. This agenda would be reliant upon, and could help to 
secure, investment in upgrades to road, rail, grid and digital infrastructure.

4.2. It is requested that the Board endorses Council Officer engagement with other 
stakeholders nationally and in Cumbria, including CoNE, the NDA, Sellafield Ltd, the 
Cumbria LEP Nuclear Sector Panel and Strategy Groups and the supply chain to ensure 
that a portion of the funding set out in the Deal for AMR and SMR development comes 
to Copeland. This will help to achieve Copeland’s strategic growth priority to 

Page 41

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/industry-experts-assemble-in-bid-to-make-cutting-edge-nuclear-technology-a-reality
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/industry-experts-assemble-in-bid-to-make-cutting-edge-nuclear-technology-a-reality


strengthen its position as the Centre of Nuclear Excellence, and could contribute to 
the development of exportable capability and a resilient and diverse local economy 
for future generations.

4.3. It should be noted that the Moorside site in Copeland remains designated in the 
National Policy Statements for Energy Infrastructure as a site for large scale nuclear 
development. This is a position that Copeland Borough Council supports and work is 
continuing to identify a developer for the site and to ensure that the site is re-
designated for large scale nuclear until at least 2035.

4.4. Members will be invited to attend a Members Workshop on the Nuclear Sector Deal, 
AMRs and SMRs on the 27th February 2019 with a presentation from personnel from 
NNL. Future developments in this field, including the outcome of Phase 1 of the BEIS 
Competition in March 2019, will be raised to the Board in due course.

APPENDIX A – Abstracts from Advanced Nuclear Technology Vendors

Page 42



 

ADVANCED MODULAR REACTOR 
(AMR) FEASIBILITY AND 
DEVELOPMENT (F&D) PROJECT 

Abstracts from the Applicant 
Organisations’ Proposals 

 

August 2018 

Page 43



 

ADVANCED MODULAR REACTOR 
(AMR) FEASIBILITY AND 
DEVELOPMENT (F&D) PROJECT 

Abstracts from the Applicant 
Organisations’ Proposals 
 

  

 

 

 

© Crown copyright 2018 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or 

medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence.  

To view this licence, visit www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/ 

or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, 

or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 

Page 44

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk


 

Background 

The Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) is to invest up to 

£44 million (excluding VAT) in the Advanced Modular Reactor (AMR) Feasibility and 

Development (F&D) project. 

For this project, AMRs are defined as a broad group of advanced nuclear reactors. 

AMRs differ from conventional reactors, which use pressurised or boiling water for 

primary cooling. They aim to maximise the amount of off-site factory fabrication and can 

target: 

• generating low cost electricity 

• increased flexibility in delivering electricity to the grid 

• increased functionality, such as the provision of heat output for domestic or 

industrial purposes, or facilitating the production of hydrogen 

• alternative applications that may generate additional revenue or economic growth 

This project has 2 phases: 

• phase 1: funding (up to £4 million, excluding VAT) to undertake a series of 

feasibility studies for AMR designs. Contracts are worth up to £300,000 

(excluding VAT) 

• phase 2: subject to government approval, a share of up to £40 million (excluding 

VAT) could be available for selected projects from phase 1 to undertake 

development activities 

We are pleased to announce that the following 8 organisations have been awarded 

contracts to produce feasibility studies as part of phase 1 of the AMR F&D project: 

• Advanced Reactor Concepts LLC 

• DBD Limited 

• Blykalla Reaktorer Stockholm AB (LeadCold) 

• Moltex Energy Limited 

• Tokamak Energy Ltd 

• U-Battery Developments Ltd 

• Ultra Safe Nuclear Corporation 

• Westinghouse Electric Company UK

Page 45



 

Abstracts from the Applicant Organisations’ 
Proposals 

As part of their application for the project, each organisation has supplied an abstract 

summarising their proposal, these are included below. It should be noted that the 

claims and opinions expressed in these abstracts are those of the applicant 

organisation and do not necessarily reflect the official policy or position of the 

Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS). 

Lead Applicant Organisation Name: Moltex Energy Limited 

Project Title: UK SSR Feasibility 

Stable Salt Reactors - low cost, carbon free and complementary to renewables. Stable 

salt technology is a genuinely new advance in nuclear energy which enables an entirely 

new range of reactor configurations. It uses molten salts of uranium or plutonium as fuel 

in essentially conventional nuclear fuel assemblies. This technology when used in the 

Stable Salt Reactor has been referred to as the "ultimate accident tolerant fuel" 

because even in the most severe accident there can be no airborne release of 

radioactivity sufficient to cause danger outside the plant boundary.  

Stable Salt Reactors based on this technology are radically simpler than existing 

nuclear reactors and achieve safety primarily by inherent means instead of through 

expensive and complex engineered systems. They are therefore far cheaper to 

construct and are expected to produce electricity cheaper than coal or gas power 

stations - and far cheaper than conventional nuclear reactors.  

Even more importantly, they are capable of storing their heat output for many hours at 

under 10% of the cost of even the cheapest electricity storage. This means a 1000MW 

reactor can output as much as 3000MW of electricity, releasing energy to the electricity 

grid only when it is most needed. This makes them the perfect complement to 

intermittent renewable energy sources - a low carbon plant capable of flexible output 

that until now could only be achieved by burning gas.  

The ‘UK SSR Feasibility’ project will provide BEIS with the evidence behind the low-

cost claims made by Moltex, demonstrate technical near-term viability which will clearly 

show that the UK has a unique opportunity to be a global first mover in the advanced 

modular reactor space. The economic benefits can be transformative to the UK being 

the major exporter of the SSR. The reduced energy bills over the decades to come 

following low cost flexible SSR plants deployed in the UK will enable the industrial 

strategy ensuring international competitiveness post Brexit and a higher standard of 

living for all.  

Page 46



Abstracts from the Applicant Organisations’ Proposals 

4 

Lead Applicant Organisation Name: Tokamak Energy Ltd 

Project Title: Advanced Modular Fusion - The Spherical Tokamak 

Tokamak Energy is pursuing the goal of small modular fusion reactors, replicating the 

energy generation process that happens in the sun and the stars in a carefully designed 

magnetic bottle on earth. Fusion is a zero-carbon energy source that has all the 

benefits of nuclear fission while also being inherently safe and not producing any long 

lived radioactive waste.  

Nuclear fusion will change the way the world generates power – forever. Our goal is to 

accelerate the development and deployment of fusion power by combining two 

emerging technologies: spherical tokamaks (ST) and magnets made from high 

temperature superconductors (HTS). We aim to have our compact modular fusion 

reactors ready for commercialisation by 2030. Being compact and with modest power 

output (100s MW range), these reactors will be able to be factory fabricated and benefit 

from the economies of multiples.  

Tokamaks use strong magnetic fields to confine an extremely hot plasma fuel mixture 

composed of deuterium (obtained from sea water) and tritium (breed from lithium). They 

are the most established controlled fusion technology with an extensive evidence base 

and a viable commercial proposition. The spherical tokamak is a variation of the 

conventional tokamak, characterised by compressed geometry and improved efficiency. 

There is strong evidence to suggest that the performance of spherical tokamaks can be 

significantly improved by increasing the confining magnetic field. However, to date, 

spherical tokamaks have only operated with relatively low magnetic fields due to space 

restrictions imposed by the compressed geometry.  

Rapid advances in high temperature superconductors mean it is now possible to design 

and construct high field magnet systems for spherical tokamaks. Compared to 

conventional low temperature superconductors, HTS can operate at much higher 

temperatures, in stronger magnetic fields and carry more current per unit volume. 

Magnets made from HTS can therefore generate high magnetic fields while remaining 

compact, making then a key enabling technology for our accelerated spherical tokamak 

route to fusion power. Our compact fusion reactor will be capable of producing heat at 

high temperatures, which will both improve the efficiency of electricity generation and 

facilitate industrial processes, such as hydrogen production – the primary application for 

this proposal.  

Tokamak Energy are building on the UK’s world leading positions in fusion research 

and superconducting magnet development. To deliver the requirements of this 

programme and position ourselves to develop and deploy small modular fusion reactors 

commercially, Tokamak Energy has engaged Atkins to provide infrastructure 

engineering and safety support. Atkins are one of the world’s most respected 

engineering consultancies, who bring extensive experience in evaluating the technical 

and economic feasibility of advanced modular reactors as well as significant experience 

Page 47



Abstracts from the Applicant Organisations’ Proposals 

5 

of developing UK Generic Design Assessment submissions for Gen III+ reactor 

vendors. 

  

Page 48



Abstracts from the Applicant Organisations’ Proposals 

6 

Lead Applicant Organisation Name: Westinghouse Electric Company 
UK Limited 

Project Title: An Innovative Nuclear Solution based on Lead Fast Reactor Technology 

Westinghouse, working with Ansaldo Nucleare and ENEA, is developing an Advanced 

Modular Reactor based on Lead-cooled Fast Reactor (LFR) technology, and has 

engaged leading UK organisations to accelerate such development and achieve 

commercialisation in the UK and globally. This low-cost, highly innovative nuclear 

power plant (NPP) has capability to play a major role in ensuring safe, secure, reliable, 

clean and affordable energy for the UK for decades to come, whilst creating new 

opportunities and fostering technical excellence for UK businesses and research 

institutions. The plant will be developed through a staged approach that provides the 

best value for money, commencing with a nearer-term deployment Prototype LFR 

featuring mature technology solutions and expected to outperform conventional nuclear 

power plants in many areas (including economics, safety and sustainability). This plant 

will be then followed by a higher performance LFR capable of being economically 

competitive with any electricity-generating source in any market.  

The Westinghouse LFR is a 400 MWe-size plant which uses liquid lead as primary 

coolant and uranium oxide (or U-Pu oxide) as fuel, with the goal of introducing a higher 

performing fuel after the initial technology demonstration phase. This plant features a 

pool-type configuration and adopts economics, safety, scalability and construction 

modularity as the key elements informing its design. Its outstanding economic and 

safety performance derive from the inherent, favourable attributes of liquid lead – 

primarily the very high boiling point in excess of 1700°C, atmospheric pressure 

operation, the absence of exothermic reaction with water and air and excellent heat 

transfer properties – combined with a set of innovative technologies to be progressively 

adopted while transitioning from the Prototype LFR to the follow-on higher performance 

plant. In the unlikely event of an accident, the LFR provides unparalleled safety with a 

‘walk away’ safe plant, which eliminates the need for typical redundant, and costly, 

active response systems for long-term decay heat removal. The plant’s low cost of 

electricity, which represents the primary goal in its development, results from design 

simplicity and from high-temperature operation, with the latter favouring high 

efficiencies particularly when combined with the progress in materials sought as part of 

the proposed programme. Moreover, as the plant aims at penetrating future/diverse 

markets, increased flexibility in providing electricity and in broadening its functionality 

area is also sought. The increased flexibility is achieved by adopting a thermal energy 

storage system which enables load following by storing thermal power when electricity 

demand is low and selling it, upon conversion to electricity, when the demand is high. 

Increased functionality is achieved through 1) operation in fast neutron spectrum, which 

allows for effective utilisation of the UK separated Plutonium (Pu) inventory and 2) 

depending on customer needs, through delivery of high-quality process heat thanks to 

the high operating temperature (at least 500°C and up to 700-800°C through the 

progress in materials sought in this programme).  

Page 49



Abstracts from the Applicant Organisations’ Proposals 

7 

Lead Applicant Organisation Name: Blykalla Reaktorer Stockholm AB 
(LeadCold) 

Project Title: Small, Economic and Agile Lead-cooled Reactors for the UK (SEALER-UK) 

New nuclear power has been identified as a viable solution for the UK to address needs 

for electricity as well as to combat climate change. Large scale LWR units currently 

planned face challenges in terms of long lead times from procurement to operation, 

connected to signficant investment risks.  

The solution offered by LeadCold is a customer oriented, lead-cooled reactor for 

electricity production using uranium nitride fuel. A single SEALER-UK unit produces up 

to 40 MW of electricity in a vessel that can be transported to any location in the UK 

using railroad. Multiple units can operate on a single site, allowing to fit grid capacity 

and meet customer demand. The application of UN fuel with commercially available 

12% enrichment of U-235 and 99.5% of N-15 allows it to reach an average burn-up of 

50 GWd/ton with a very small reactivity swing. Hence, the need for control-rods is 

reduced, and the number of fuel assemblies is higher, thereby significantly increasing 

power density in the vessel. The service life of the fuel exceeds 13.5 full power years 

without reload. The reactor unit life is estimated at 30 calendar years, including a mid-

life core replacement.  

Adequate corrosion protection is ensured through the application of alumina forming 

steels, developed by LeadCold engineers. Decay heat removal is achieved by natural 

convection of the primary coolant. During nominal operation, forced circulation of the 

coolant is managed using six pumps. Pumps and steam generators may be replaced 

during annual maintenance periods.  

By deploying 4 GWe (100 units) on existing nuclear sites in the UK, at a rate of 10 units 

per year, production of SEALER-UK can be accomplished at a centralised site, taking 

advantage of automated procedures for manufacture and quality control. The target 

cost of base-load electricity produced by a fleet of SEALER-UK units is 0.05 GBP/kWh 

and the incremental cost for adding a single unit (including fuel) to the fleet will be of the 

order of 150 million GBP.  

The current proposal includes a study for demonstrating the technical and economic 

feasibility of our concept through a future R&D program to be carried out in the UK and 

Sweden. Our consortium includes UK metallurgical industry, experienced UK nuclear 

consultancies, UK nuclear research organisations and universities, an experienced 

Swedish nuclear consultancy and a well renowned supplier of components to nuclear 

power plants in Canada. 

 

  

Page 50



Abstracts from the Applicant Organisations’ Proposals 

8 

Lead Applicant Organisation Name: U-Battery Developments Ltd 

Project Title: U-Battery 

U-Battery is a small high temperature gas-cooled Advanced Modular Reactor designed 

to meet needs for heat and electricity at the point of use. It is suitable for deployment in 

remote areas, off-grid, but also as an embedded power source, including high 

temperature process heat up to 750 degrees C, for heavy industrial operations such as 

mining, chemicals and manufacturing. It could also be used for district heating, 

hydrogen production and desalination.  

Each module is designed to deliver 10MW thermal power which can be converted up to 

4MW electric power flexibly in combinations to meet end-user need. A single module 

occupies a footprint equivalent to the penalty area on a football pitch and a volume 

equivalent to two squash courts.  

The inherently safe design uses accident tolerant fuel in the form of uranium based tri-

structural isotropic (TRISO) compacts inserted into prismatic blocks. Uranium granules, 

like grains of sand, enriched up to 19.5% in uranium 235, are triple coated in layers of 

high integrity pyrolytic graphite and silicon carbide embedded in a graphite matrix. Each 

fuel charge contains about 200kg of uranium and in continuous use lasts 5 years 

between reloads.  

The primary coolant for the small fuel core is helium. Heat is transferred to nitrogen in 

the secondary circuit through a gas/gas heat exchanger. The heated nitrogen in the 

secondary circuit drives a gas turbine/generator set in a direct Brayton Cycle.  

U-Battery is small and simple. Whilst the configuration of the components is novel, with 

the exception of the large vessels in the nuclear island, the majority of components are 

selected to be "commercial off the shelf". TRISO fuel is currently manufactured in the 

USA and has been previously been proven in commercial scale operation and US 

DoE's long-term AGR testing programme. 

 

  

Page 51



Abstracts from the Applicant Organisations’ Proposals 

9 

Lead Applicant Organisation Name: Advanced Reactor Concepts LLC 

Project Title: ARC-100: Sodium Cooled Fast Reactor Employing Metallic Fuel 

Advanced Reactor Concepts, LLC (ARC) is commercializing an evolutionary new 

technology for power generation provided by its ARC-100, an advanced small modular 

reactor. The ARC reactor will be factory-built and offer the customer 100 MWe of 

electricity production with a twenty-year refueling cycle. The ARC-100 will be sodium-

cooled and employ metallic fuel. It will introduce four key attributes that should enable it 

to gain public acceptance and play a vital role in the effort to contain climate change: 

(1) inherent safety and passive heat removal with the result that a core meltdown is not 

a conceivable event, (2) the option to reuse its own spent fuel or consume the fuel of 

other nuclear reactors, (3) the highest level of proliferation resistance and (4) low cost, 

factory production of its simple design made possible by its inherent safety that will 

allow it to produce electricity as cheap as that generated by fossil fuels. It is designed to 

provide safe, clean, affordable and proliferation-resistant nuclear power to energy 

markets in both the developed and the developing world. The twenty-year refueling 

cycle and its non-proliferation features will make it particularly suitable for export to 

future high energy growth markets in the developing world. 

 

  

Page 52



Abstracts from the Applicant Organisations’ Proposals 

10 

Lead Applicant Organisation Name: DBD Limited 

Project Title: AMR Feasibility and Development Project - High Temperature Gas Cooled 

Reactors 

UK Government has set in motion a series of forward-thinking investment opportunities 

to develop the Civil Nuclear R&D Landscape. This project focusses on the development 

of ‘Generation IV’ Advanced Modular Reactors (AMRs) to establish UK’s leading-edge 

involvement in the worldwide development programme. Critical to this success is the 

associated applications and infrastructure that is required to realise the promise of 

these reactor designs in practice.  

DBD is working in China to support the global commercialisation of promising 

technologies, conducting evidence-based due diligence and feasibility studies initially 

focussed on entry into UK market & applications. For this project DBD will be studying 

an AMR design called a High Temperature Gas-Cooled Reactor, Pebble-Bed Module or 

HTR-PM. This design concept is in development by the Institute of Nuclear and New 

Energy Technology (INET), Tsinghua University in China. This low-carbon technology 

strongly aligns with the technical vision of Government and DBD are confident that it 

can, through due diligence and commercialisation, deliver reliable, affordable, clean 

energy and enhanced functionality. The HTR-PM reactor module is fuelled by 

circulating fuel pebbles, with each pebble of UO2 fuel being constructed with multiple 

mixed-material layers designed to contain the radioactive by-products. The burnup of 

the circulating fuel is controlled by adding and subtracting fresh or spent pebbles on a 

continuous basis alongside a graphite-moderated core.  

These reactors produce high-temperature heat that can then be used for a range of 

valuable purposes: This includes high efficiency electricity generation and co-

generation of process heat for industrial applications such as hydrogen production, 

district heating, oil & gas operations and so on. On offer is the potential to combine all 

these diverse applications onto single power plants. In addition, the inherent safety 

features (such as eliminating a core meltdown scenario by design) will allow the siting 

of these units closer to the energy user. The technology comes with a long pedigree, 

starting in the 1960s, and China is at the forefront of the modern HTGR programme 

with the recent construction of a full scale 2 x 250 MW demonstration HTR-PM reactor 

in Shandong province, China.  

DBD intend to use this project to test the Feasibility of HTGRs being applied and to 

build on the existing China/UK ties to develop a role for the UK in the HTGR 

programme. This will include both academic and industrial opportunities set within 

INET’s wider commercialisation roadmap and the path being set out in the UK nuclear 

R&D strategy. 

  

Page 53



Abstracts from the Applicant Organisations’ Proposals 

11 

Lead Applicant Organisation Name: Ultra Safe Nuclear Corporation 
(USNC) 

Project Title: MMR, a novel nuclear cogeneration system for multipurpose applications 

Ultrasafe Nuclear Corporation (USNC) has developed the Micro-Modular Reactor 

(MMR®), a 15 MWth High Temperature Gas-Cooled Reactor (HTGR) design, able to 

operate 20 years without refuelling. The focus is on electricity supply to remote mines 

and communities in northern Canada. The MMR® uses innovative features that set it 

apart from other HTGR designs.  

The MMR® uses USNC's proprietary Fully Ceramic Microencapsulated (FCM®) fuel. 

This fuel enhances the already very high fission product retention of TRISO particles. 

This allows for the design of reactors with extremely low release of fission products 

both during normal operation and accidents. FCM® fuel coupled with the intrinsic 

characteristics of the MMR® reactor design allow for an extremely simplified design of 

the plant while maintaining a robust safety case.  

The MMR® plant is designed to use an intermediate heat transfer loop, based on the 

molten salt technology successfully developed and deployed in Concentrating Solar 

Plants (CSP) over the last 10 years, to transfer the heat from the reactor to the 

Adjacent Plant. This allows the reactor to be decoupled from the client application. This 

makes the reactor very good for both generating electricity and process heat. An 

MMR® plant can generate from 0–100% process heat, and 0–100% electrical power 

with the same flexibility as gas boiler or gas turbine. The MMR® is a small plant and is 

designed for mass production and modular construction. This contributes to its 

competitiveness. The MMR is factory sealed, delivered, and retrieved after complete 

fuel depletion, resulting in a highly proliferation resistant design. The MMR® Design for 

Canada (MMR-REM) is advanced and has undergone the Vendor Design Review 

(VDR) Phase 1 with the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission (CNSC).  

USNC consider that the MMR-REM may not be well suited to application in the UK. The 

feasibility study is aimed at identifying a specific UK application that is best suited to 

launching a UK-MMR. The study will identify the technical, economic and regulatory 

barriers to deployment and put a plan in place to address them. We expect that this will 

be in the delivery of high temperature process heat that can be used to replace fossil 

fuel use and generally be used to generate high-value products such as hydrogen. 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 54



 

 

 

 

© Crown copyright 2018 
Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy 
www.gov.uk/beis    

 

Page 55

http://www.gov.uk/beis


This page is intentionally left blank



STRATEGIC NUCLEAR AND ENERGY BOARD 060219

The Impact of the United Kingdom’s Withdrawal from the European Union on 
the Nuclear Sector

LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham
REPORT AUTHOR: Rob Ward & Mitchell McCombe

Summary

This paper considers the impacts of the United Kingdom’s (UK) withdrawal from the European Union 
(EU) on the nuclear sector, in two situations: (a) withdrawal under the government’s proposed 
Withdrawal Agreement; (b) the possibility of leaving the EU with no deal.

Recommendation:

1. Members are encouraged to familiarise themselves with the civil nuclear sector arrangements 
that will be implemented upon the UK’s exit from the EU.

1. Background

1.1. Following a referendum on 23rd June 2016, the Prime Minister triggered Article 50 and hence 
started the process for the UK’s withdrawal from the EU (“Brexit”), which will take place on 
29th March 2019.

1.2. At a special meeting of the European Council on Sunday 25th November 2018, the EU Member 
States approved the Agreement on the withdrawal of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and 
Northern Ireland from the European Union and the European Atomic Energy Community. On 
29th March, it is the government’s intention that the Withdrawal Agreement will be written 
into an international Treaty, to formalise the future relationship between the UK and the EU. 
However, at a vote on 15th January 2019, members of parliament voted down the draft 
Agreement.

1.3. The Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) are responsible for putting 
in place arrangements relating to the civil nuclear sector following Brexit. On 11th January 
2019 the Department for Business, Energy, & Industrial Strategy (BEIS) released an update 
outlining their preparation for withdrawal from the European Union, noting that BEIS have 
recruited 700 additional workers to work specifically on EU Exit policy, which has been 
financed by HM Treasury’s EU Exit Preparation Fund. BEIS also produce a quarterly update on 
progress on exiting Euratom, the latest of which is available via the following link:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/euratom-exit-quarterly-update-july-to-
september-2018 

1.4. It should be noted that there is significant uncertainty over the sort of Brexit that will emerge 
from the negotiations with the EU and as a result of domestic political processes. The 
information contained in this document is correct at the time of writing and any changes will 
be highlighted in a verbal update given at the Board meeting.

Page 57

Agenda Item 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/euratom-exit-quarterly-update-july-to-september-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/euratom-exit-quarterly-update-july-to-september-2018


2. Introduction

2.1. This paper provides detail of the areas of the nuclear sector that will be affected by the UK’s 
withdrawal from the EU. In summary, these are:

 Ensuring continuity of Nuclear Regulation and the UK’s Nuclear Safeguards Regime
 Radioactive Waste and Spent Fuel Management
 International Trade and Fuel supply
 Understanding the UK’s reporting and notification obligations
 The UK’s continuing involvement in nuclear Research & Development (R&D)
 International Cooperation Post-Brexit
 Other provisions under the Withdrawal Agreement

2.2. Copeland Borough is host to the Sellafield site, which holds much of the remaining UK nuclear 
waste and spent fuel inventory and is the focus of significant decommissioning and legacy 
retrievals activity. The Borough is also the host community for the:

 National Low Level Waste Repository (LLWR)
 Headquarters of the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority (NDA)
 Central laboratory for the National Nuclear Laboratory (NNL)
 Various University-led research and training facilities
 Centre for Nuclear Excellence (CoNE)

Therefore, Copeland Borough Council and the communities it represents have an interest in 
how any legislative, commercial or operational changes due to Brexit might affect the nuclear 
sector locally.

2.3. The information presented in this paper is based on the content of the draft Withdrawal 
Agreement, any arrangements that have already been implemented, and the government’s 
published information relating to a “no deal” scenario, as well as the Cumbria Local Enterprise 
Partnership’s 2018 Brexit Impact Assessment.

3. Regulation and Nuclear Safeguards

3.1. It is mandated that the UK must transpose this EU Basic Safety Standards Directive into UK law 
by 6th February 2019 and this will not be affected by Brexit. The transposition of the EU 
directive into UK legislation has been a 5-year process, started by the Department for Energy 
and Climate Change and now undertaken by BEIS. The Government consultation on the 
changes started in Aug 2017, to which Copeland Borough Council provided a response.

3.2. On Thursday 29th November, the Government laid the Nuclear Safeguards (EU Exit) 
Regulations 2018 and the Nuclear Safeguards (Fissionable Material and Relevant International 
Agreements) (EU Exit) Regulations 2018 in Parliament for approval. These regulations set out 
the detailed legal framework for the UK’s new domestic civil nuclear safeguards regime, after 
withdrawal from Euratom.

3.3. From 29th March 2019, the Office for Nuclear Regulation (ONR) will oversee the domestic 
safeguards regime, regardless of whether a Brexit deal is agreed. The ONR has signed new 

Page 58



international agreements with the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) which replace 
the existing trilateral agreements between the IAEA, Euratom, and the UK.

3.4. UK government has stated that the Office for Nuclear Regulation is making good progress 
towards putting in place a UK State System of Accounting for and Control of Nuclear Material.

4. Spent Fuel and Radioactive Waste Management

4.1. The Euratom Treaty provides for movement of spent fuel and radioactive waste between EU 
member countries. Once the UK leaves the EU (and Euratom), the process for authorising new 
shipments of spent fuel and radioactive waste from the UK to EU27 will change to reflect the 
fact that the UK will no longer be a member of the EU. Beyond this, arrangements for new 
shipments of spent fuel and radioactive waste from EU27 countries to the UK for the purposes 
of management will not be affected.

4.2. The UK’s current arrangements for the reprocessing of spent fuel and treatment of radioactive 
waste will continue after the UK withdraws from Euratom, and the UK will retain the right of 
sole responsibility for spent fuel and radioactive waste generated on UK territory.

4.3. In January 2018, the UK, Scottish, and Welsh Governments requested advice from the 
Committee on Radioactive Waste Management (CoRWM) on the possible impacts of 
withdrawal from Euratom and how to address any gaps in legal and regulatory instruments 
for radioactive waste management.

4.4. CoRWM did not identify any major significant gaps between the current and post-Brexit 
arrangements. There will be no significant impact on the safe management of radioactive 
waste and spent fuel following cessation from the EU and Euratom Treaty requirements. 
CoRWM did however make recommendations relating to specific Articles of the Euratom 
Treaty, and these are available via the following link:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/radioactive-waste-implications-of-uk-
withdrawal-from-euratom-and-the-eu 

5. International Trade and Fuel Supply

5.1. Under current Euratom arrangements, all special fissile material in any member country is 
legally owned by Euratom. Following Brexit, Euratom ownership of special fissile material in 
the UK will end. As a result, operators that hold the legal title to material will have full 
ownership from 29th March 2019.

5.2. Current arrangements require approval from the Euratom Supply Agency and (depending on 
the nature of the contract), the European Commission before a supply contract for nuclear 
material is granted. Following Brexit, approval from the Euratom Supply Agency will no longer 
be required for contracts agreed by UK-established operators, unless an EU27-established 
operator is involved in the contract. The EU has informed BEIS that some existing contracts 
will need to be re-approved.

Page 59

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/radioactive-waste-implications-of-uk-withdrawal-from-euratom-and-the-eu
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/radioactive-waste-implications-of-uk-withdrawal-from-euratom-and-the-eu


6. Reporting and Notification

6.1. Reporting and Notification Obligations under the Euratom Treaty:

 Article 37: Euratom members must submit information to the European Commission 
on activities relating to disposal of radioactive waste, in order to ensure transfrontier 
protection of people and the environment.

 Article 41: Under this Article, nuclear operators must report the details of proposed 
new nuclear installations to the European Commission.

On withdrawal from the EU, the UK and operators on UK territory will no longer have to follow 
these obligations. However, in order to maintain good international relations, CoRWM has 
suggested that Government may find it advantageous to adopt a new mechanism for 
informing neighbouring countries of the discharges originating in the UK.

6.2. In October 2018, Minister for Energy and Clean Growth, Claire Perry stated that the 
fundamental processes of reporting nuclear materials accountancy to ONR and then onwards 
to the International Atomic Energy Agency in discharge of our international obligations will 
remain broadly similar to the arrangements for reporting to Euratom.

7. Research and Development

7.1. Under Euratom membership, the United Kingdom contributes to the Euratom Research and 
Training Programme (ERT Programme). This involves collaboration on a number of different 
projects including the following:

 Joint European Torus: a project in Oxfordshire that is home to the world’s largest 
operational magnetically confined plasma physics experiment – a key programme in 
fusion research;

 International Thermonuclear Experimental Reactor (ITER): an international fusion 
research mega-project that is currently constructing a full scale proto-type reactor in 
southern France;

 Joint Research Centre: the European Commission’s science and knowledge service. 
This carries out research and provides advice on EU policy.

7.2. The current ERT financial cycle runs until 2018 and is expected to be extended to 2020. Given 
this extension, the United Kingdom will continue to remain a part of the programme until 
2020, but the Parliamentary BEIS Select Committee have asked for clarity on plans for the UK’s 
involvement in future international research initiatives.

7.3. CoRWM advised government to assess the reliance of ongoing nuclear sector programmes on 
data and research from European research projects, and to explore how the UK can continue 
to access such these under a process of on-going arrangements with Euratom.

8. International Cooperation Post-Brexit

8.1. Euratom is currently party to various Nuclear Cooperation Agreements (NCAs) with third 
countries which provide the framework for the UK’s civil nuclear trade with these countries. 

Page 60



8.2. UK Government has signed new bilateral NCAs with priority third countries (including 
Australia, Canada and the United States), which will ensure that civil nuclear trade can and will 
continue unimpeded.

8.3. The Parliamentary BEIS Select Committee has asked for clarity on post-Brexit arrangements 
for free movement of migrant labour required to deliver nuclear new build, which has proven 
essential to Hinkley Point C.

9. Other Provisions under the Draft Withdrawal Agreement

The following are other extracts from the Withdrawal Agreement relevant to the nuclear sector.

9.1. Euratom Responsibility: under the draft withdrawal agreement, the UK will be solely 
responsible for ensuring that covered materials (all ores, source materials, and special fissile 
materials) presently held on UK territory are handled in accordance with relevant and 
applicable international treaties and conventions on nuclear safety, safeguards, non-
proliferation and physical protection of nuclear materials, and on safety of spent fuel 
management and the safety of radioactive waste management. Therefore, the UK will have 
direct responsibility for ensuring compliance with international obligations under provisions 
set by IAEA and other agreements.

9.2. Equipment and Other Property Related to the Provision of Safeguards: Community equipment 
and other property under provisions set out under the Euratom Treaty that are located on UK 
territory shall become property of the UK. The UK shall reimburse to the EU the value of that 
equipment and property, calculated based on the value assigned to that equipment and other 
property in the consolidated accounts for the year 2020. In addition, the UK shall assume all 
the Euratom rights, liabilities, and obligations associated with this equipment and other 
property.

9.3. International Agreements: the UK will ensure that obligations under agreements concluded 
by Euratom with third countries or international organisations relating to any nuclear 
equipment, materials, or other items, present on UK territory on March 29th 2019 are fulfilled 
otherwise suitable arrangements are then identified in agreement with the third country or 
organisation that is concerned.

9.4. Use and Consumption of Special Fissile Materials: Discussions are ongoing with the EU on this 
matter. Nevertheless, the current draft agreement makes clear that, on the 29th March 2019, 
special fissile materials will become the property of the persons or undertakings that have 
unlimited right of use and consumption of those materials. However, when the right of use 
and consumption is with a member state of Euratom, the rights of Euratom will be preserved. 
Under this arrangement, Euratom members will be granted the following rights:

 Right to require that the materials concerned be deposited with Euratom;
 Right to approve the sale of the materials concerned to any person or undertaking 

established in the territory of the UK or in a third country, before that sale takes place; 
 The right to approve any transfer of the materials concerned to a third country before 

that transfer takes place.

Page 61



Member States, persons, or undertakings that had the unlimited right of use and consumption 
of special fissile materials located in the territory of the UK at the end of the transition period 
shall retain that right.

10. Planning for a “No Deal” Brexit

10.1. In summer 2018, the government published a series of 106 technical notices setting out 
information and guidance for businesses and citizens to plan for a no deal scenario.

10.2. The Government’s technical notices relating to civil nuclear regulation in the result of “no 
deal” may be accessed via the following link:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/civil-nuclear-regulation-if-theres-no-brexit-
deal/civil-nuclear-regulation-if-theres-no-brexit-deal 

10.3. The Government’s technical notice relating to nuclear research in the result of “no deal” may 
be accessed via the following link:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nuclear-research-if-theres-no-brexit-
deal/nuclear-research-if-theres-no-brexit-deal 

11. Local Context

11.1. Sellafield Ltd have formed an internal Brexit Working Group, which is working to produce 60 
and 30 day Brexit plans to minimise the impact of Brexit on continued operation of the site.

11.2. Low Level Waste Repository also commissioned a Brexit Impact Assessment, which has been 
reviewed by Deloitte. Contingency arrangements continue to be developed in line with 
emerging guidance from government and readiness reviews are scheduled for February 2019.

11.3. The Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership (Cumbria LEP) has published a report that assesses 
the potential impact of Brexit on Cumbria. The report notes that the “main players” in the 
nuclear sector have limited exposure to European markets and that the supply chain is largely 
based in the UK. However, some specialist-companies do rely on exporting and importing 
(mainly steel). The report also highlights there are benefits of being a member of Euratom, 
including free movement of skilled people and funding for, and sharing of, nuclear research.

11.4. Overall, the LEP report concludes that, in relation to the nuclear sector, the impact of trade 
exposure will be low, the impact of labour exposure will be low, and other effects are classed 
as medium. Given these “scorings”, the LEP report indicates that the impact of Brexit on the 
nuclear sector in Cumbria will be “medium/low”. 

Page 62

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/civil-nuclear-regulation-if-theres-no-brexit-deal/civil-nuclear-regulation-if-theres-no-brexit-deal
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/civil-nuclear-regulation-if-theres-no-brexit-deal/civil-nuclear-regulation-if-theres-no-brexit-deal
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nuclear-research-if-theres-no-brexit-deal/nuclear-research-if-theres-no-brexit-deal
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nuclear-research-if-theres-no-brexit-deal/nuclear-research-if-theres-no-brexit-deal

	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 18 December 2018
	4 Radioactive Waste Management GDF Site Evaluation Process
	5 Consultation Response on the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority's Draft Business Plan for 2019 to 2022
	App A Draft CBC Response to Draft Business Plan 19-22

	6 The Case for Accelerated Decommissioning of Calder Hall
	7 BEIS Advanced Modular Reactor Competition
	Appendix A BEIS Phase 1 Study Abstracts from AMR Vendors

	8 The Impact of the United Kingdom's Withdrawal from the European Union on the Nuclear Sector

